
Philip Bostock, Chief Executive 

Bindu Arjoon, Assistant Chief Executive  

 

Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter, EX1 1JN 
Tel: 01392 277888        www.exeter.gov.uk 

Direct dial: 01392 265115 

Fax: 01392 265268 

email: sharon.sissons@exeter.gov.uk 

Our ref:  
Your ref: 
 

 

To the Chair and Members  
of the Scrutiny Committee - Economy 
 

 

 

 

 
AGENDA FOR 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - ECONOMY 

 

 

The Scrutiny Committee - Economy will meet on THURSDAY 5 JUNE 2008, commencing at 5.30 
pm, in the Rennes Room, Civic Centre, Paris Street, Exeter to consider the following business.  If 
you have an enquiry regarding any items on this agenda, please contact Sharon Sissons, Member 
Services Officer on Exeter 265115. 
 
Entry to the Civic Centre can be gained through the Customer Service Centre, Paris Street. 

 Pages 

Part I: Items suggested for discussion with the press and public present 

 

1 MINUTES  

 To sign the minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2008. 
  
 

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 Councillors are reminded of the need to declare personal and prejudicial 
interests, including the nature and extent of such interests, in relation to business 
on the agenda, before any discussion takes place on the item.  Councillors 
requiring clarification should seek the advice of the Monitoring Officer prior to the 
day of the meeting.  
 

 

3 LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 - 
EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 

 It is considered that the Committee would be unlikely to exclude the press and 
public during consideration of any of the items on the agenda but, if it should wish 

 

 



to do so, the following resolution should be passed:- 
 
RECOMMENDED that, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the consideration of 
the particular item(s) on the grounds that it (they) involve(s) the likely disclosure 
of exempt information as defined in the relevant paragraphs of Part I, Schedule 
12A of the Act. 
  
 

4 QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC UNDER STANDING ORDER 19  

 A period of up to 15 minutes should be set aside to deal with questions to the 
Committee from members of the public. 
 
Details of questions should be notified to the Assistant Chief Executive at least 
three working days prior to the meeting.  Further information and a copy of the 
procedure are available from member Services (Exeter 265115) also on the 
Council web site 
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/scrutinyquestions 
    
 

 

5 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 20 

 

 To receive questions from Members of the Council to appropriate Portfolio 
Holders. 
 
Details of questions should be notified to the Assistant Chief Executive at least 
three working days prior to the meeting.  Further information and a copy of the 
procedure are available from member Services (Exeter 265115).   
 

 

MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION BY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - ECONOMY 

 

6 PORTFOLIO HOLDERS TO PRESENT THEIR PRIORITIES FOR THE 
FORTHCOMING YEAR 

 

 Councillor Wadham (Portfolio Holder for Sustainable Development and 
Transport) and Councillor Mrs S.R Brock (Portfolio Holder for Economy and 
Tourism) will present a verbal report on the priorities for the forthcoming year in 
light of the Committee’s work programme. 
 

(Work Programme attached) 
  
 

1 - 2 

7 EXETER & HEART OF DEVON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES 
2008 - 2013 

 

 To consider the report of the Head of Economy and Tourism – report circulated 
 
PLEASE NOTE THAT A PRESENTATION WILL BE MADE AT THE MEETING 
BY KEITH COOPER OF COOPER SIMS CONSULTANCY  
 
     
 

3 - 6 



8 SUPPORT FOR SMALL BUSINESSES  

 To consider the report of the Head of Economy and Tourism – report circulated 
 
  
 

7 - 10 

PERFORMANCE MONITORING 

 

9 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING (2007/08 OUTTURN)  

 To consider the report of the Directorate Projects Officer  - report circulated  
 

11 - 22 

10 ECONOMY SCRUTINY STEWARDSHIP 2007/08  

 To consider the report of the Head of Treasury Services – report circulated  
 

23 - 30 

11 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT INDICATORS 2007/08  

 To consider the report of the Director Economy and Development – report 
circulated  
 

31 - 38 

12 CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT  

 To receive a verbal update from the Director Economy and Development.   
 

 

13 FUTURE BUSINESS  

 The schedule of future business proposed for this Scrutiny Committee and other 
Committees of the Council can be viewed on the following link to the Council’s  
website: 
http://www.exeter.gov.uk/docs/committee/workschedule.doc 
Councillors can view a hard copy of the schedule in the Members’ Room. 
    
 

 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

 
 The next Scrutiny Committee - Economy will be held on Thursday 4 

September 2008 5.30 pm  
 
 

 
 

FUTURE BUSINESS  

 
 The schedule of future business proposed for this Scrutiny Committee and 

other Committees of the Council can be viewed on the following link to the 
Council’s website:http://www.exeter.gov.uk/forwardplan 
Councillors can view a hard copy of the schedule in the Members Room. 

 
 

 

Membership - 



Councillors M A Baldwin (Chair), C G Gale (Deputy Chair), Boyle, P J Brock, Coates,  A J 
Hannaford, Martin, Newcombe, Noble, Sheldon, Starling, Winterbottom, Wardle 
 

 

Find out more about Exeter City Council services by looking at our web site 
http://www.exeter.gov.uk.  This will give you the dates of all future Committee meetings and tell you 
how you can ask a question at a Scrutiny Committee meeting.  Alternatively, contact the Member 
Services Officer on (01392) 265115 for further information. 

 

Individual reports on this agenda can be produced in large print 
on request to Member Services on 01392 265111. 
 



 
1
 

E
X
E
T
E
R
 C
IT
Y
 C
O
U
N
C
IL
 

S
C
R
U
T
IN
T
Y
 C
O
M
M
IT
T
E
E
 –
 E
C
O
N
O
M
Y
 

5
 J
U
N
E
 2
0
0
8
 

A
N
N
U
A
L
 W

O
R
K
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
8
/0
9
 

 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
/D
a
te
 

P
o
li
c
y
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 R
e
v
ie
w
/B
e
s
t 
V
a
lu
e
 

O
th
e
r 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 

4
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r2
0
0
8
 

 

 
•
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

te
w

a
rd

s
h
ip

 (
1

s
t  Q

u
a
rt

e
r)

 

•
 

C
it
y
 C

e
n
tr

e
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
  

•
 

A
rt

s
 S

tr
a
te

g
y
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 

1
3
 

N
o
v
e
m
b
e
r2
0
0
8
 

 

 
•
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

te
w

a
rd

s
h
ip

 (
 2

n
d
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r)

 

•
 

K
e
y
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

rs
  
(H

a
lf
 y

e
a
r)

 

•
 

P
ro

p
e
rt

y
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I

n
d
ic

a
to

rs
 

•
 

P
o
rt

fo
lio

 H
o
ld

e
rs

 H
a
lf
 y

e
a
r 

re
p
o
rt

 

•
 

F
e
s
ti
v
a
ls

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
R

e
v
ie

w
 

•
 

V
o
id

s
 a

n
d
 D

e
b
ts

 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 

2
2
 J
a
n
u
a
ry
 2
0
0
9
 

 

 
•
 

E
s
ti
m

a
te

s
/ 
F

e
e
s
 a

n
d
 C

h
a
rg

e
s
 

•
 

A
rc

h
a
e
o
lo

g
y
 –

 A
n
n
u
a
l 
re

p
o
rt

  

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 

1
2
 M

a
rc
h
 2
0
0
9
 

 

 
•
 

N
a
ti
o
n
a
l 
P

I 
R

e
s
u
lt
s
 0

7
/0

8
 –

 H
o
w

 E
x
e
te

r 
C

o
m

p
a
re

s
 

•
 

F
in

a
n
c
ia

l 
S

te
w

a
rd

s
h
ip

 (
 3

rd
 Q

u
a
rt

e
r)

 

•
 

T
o
u
ri
s
m

 S
tr

a
te

g
y
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 

4
 J
u
n
e
 2
0
0
9
 

 

 
•
 C

a
p
it
a
l 
P

ro
g

ra
m

m
e
 M

o
n
it
o
ri
n
g

 

•
 K

e
y
 P

e
rf

o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic

a
to

rs
  

•
 F

in
a
n
c
ia

l 
S

te
w

a
rd

s
h
ip

 (
F

in
a
l 
A

c
c
o
u
n
ts

) 
 

 

Agenda Item 6

Page 1



 
2
 

S
c
ru
ti
n
y
 

C
o
m
m
it
te
e
 –
 

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 

3
 S
e
p
te
m
b
e
r2
0
0
9
 

 

 
•
 

F
in
a
n
c
ia
l 
S
te
w
a
rd
s
h
ip
  
(1

s
t  Q

u
a
rt
e
r)
  

 

 

2
3
/0
5
/0
8
  

Page 2



23/05/08  

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ECONOMY 
5 JUNE 2008 

 
 EXETER AND HEART OF DEVON 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES 2008– 2013  
 
 

1.0 PURPOSE 
 

1.1
  

To seek Members’ views on the emerging Exeter and sub-regional economic 
development strategies covering the period 2008 – 2013. 
 

2.0 BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 Work has started on updating the Exeter and Heart of Devon Economic Strategy 
which will include a separate strategy focussing on specific issues related to the City. 
 

2.2 Exeter’s economy is at the core of the Exeter and Heart of Devon (EHOD) sub-region, 
an area which sits across the districts of Exeter, East Devon, Mid Devon and 
Teignbridge. Exeter’s sub-region is a principal economic driver making it an important 
part of the South West economy. 
 

2.3 The Council has supported the economic development of the city under the banner of 
the EHOD Economic Partnership’s Economic Development Strategy 2005 – 2008. 
The Strategy complements the Exeter Vision and also the South West Regional 
Development Agency’s (RDA) Regional Economic Strategy.  
 

2.4 Strategic economic development issues specific to Exeter were incorporated within 
the EHOD document. The strategy provides a framework for the economic 
development activities of the City Council, neighbouring authorities and key agencies 
focussing on promoting and securing the growth of businesses, a better-trained 
workforce, helping people into work, the availability of employment land and 
investment in transportation and communications infrastructure. 
 

2.5 The Vision for the current EHOD Economic Development Strategy included an 
aspiration for Exeter to develop its role as the main commercial and regional centre 
west of Bristol.  The Strategy highlighted that whilst the city and the surrounding area 
had enjoyed surges in investment and had established the foundations for a 
successful and sustainable modern economy, the city and the sub-region was faced 
with a number of significant challenges, which partners needed to address in order to 
grasp the benefits offered by emerging opportunities, including: -  
 

• sustaining and building upon the recent growth in the economy 

• developing a highly productive knowledge-based sector (includes 
telecommunications, computer and information services, business services, high-
technology industries) in the economy 

• facilitating investment in strategic communications infrastructure, sites and 
premises 

• tackling social and economic exclusion  

• investing in skills and learning to enable the existing and future workforce to 
contribute to and benefit from improving economic productivity. 

 

Agenda Item 7

Page 3



23/05/08  

2.6 These opportunities required partners to work concertedly to respond to the social, 
technological, economic and environmental changes already underway, namely: 
 

• a growing population and labour force 

• in-migration of wealthy retirees, many of which are relatively young and highly 
skilled 

• low unemployment but comparatively low level of household incomes 

• low levels of new business formation 

• young people continuing to move out of the sub-region to achieve high wages 
and/or more affordable housing 

• requirements for the workforce to have advanced ICT skills and a commitment to 
lifelong learning 

• competition for investment with many communities in Eastern Europe, the Far 
East, as well as the rest of Western Europe and other parts of the UK. 

 
2.7 For Exeter, the EHOD Strategy suggested that positive change could be achieved by 

focusing on the following objectives for the city: - 
 

• sustain the city’s competitive position by aiming to grow the numbers employed in 
knowledge based industries for Exeter and the Heart of Devon by a further 1%, up 
to 10.5% , representing a target of 1,900 jobs 

• securing investment in and development of strategic communications and 
transportation infrastructure  

• make available sufficient and suitable employment land to meet strategic and 
local business needs across the city and work with neighbouring authorities to 
facilitate the development of strategic employment land 

• significantly reduce social and economic exclusion of the local population by 
facilitating projects which reduce the number of households earning less than 
£15,000 per annum 

• improve the competitiveness of local businesses by encouraging investment in 
workforce skills and development 

• achieve a balanced housing market including the provision of an adequate supply 
of affordable housing. 

 
2.8 The contributions towards the EHOD Strategy made by the economic development 

service working in partnership with others were reported to this Committee in January 
2008.   
 

2.9 In December 2007 Executive approved funding for the production of a new EHOD 
Strategy for 2008 – 2013. The updated strategy is being jointly funded with 
Teignbridge and East Devon District Councils. In order that issues particular to the 
city are given due attention, the consultants will also set out a strategy specific to 
Exeter. 
 

2.10 
 

Some current initiatives, such as those major projects to the east of Exeter will carry 
forward as a priority; namely the Science Park, the multi-modal freight terminal and 
development of the Airport. These projects will be affected by changes in the 
performance of the UK and local economy and are reliant on public and private sector 
funding which will influence to a greater or lesser extent the pace of development. 
 
 
 

Page 4



23/05/08  

2.11 This work will also need to: - 
 

 • take account of and build upon these opportunities and others 

• advise on how best to promote a more enterprising culture 

• address current and future skill issues 

• address pockets of deprivation related to low incomes and employability 

• maintain and develop the competitive position of the city through attracting 
additional private and public investment whilst raising income levels amongst 
employed people. 

 
2.12 In February 2008 following a tendering process, Cooper Simms consultancy was 

appointed to undertake the work on behalf of the partners. 
 

3.0 PROGRESS 
 

3.1 Working with Officers, Cooper Simms have:- 
 

• analysed existing data and the state of the economy, drawing also on work from 
Local Futures who produced the ‘State of Exeter’ report for the Exeter Vision – 
Community Strategy 

• carried out a series of one to one interviews with key stakeholders 

• facilitated a series of workshops in Exeter, East Devon and Teignbridge to draw 
out the views of key employers and relevant agencies 

 
3.2 At Scrutiny Committee, Members will receive a presentation for discussion from 

Cooper Simms setting out the emerging issues and actions being proposed.  
 

3.3 Following this presentation, revised draft economic development strategies for both 
EHOD and for the City Council will be circulated widely with key stakeholders in the 
private, public and voluntary sectors for comment before the final strategies are 
produced in the autumn. 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

4.1 Any financial implications for the implementation of the City of Exeter and EHOD 
economic development strategies will be reported to Committee on a project by 
project basis. 
 

5.0 RECOMMENDED that: - 
 

5.1 Members note the report and provide their views on the emerging strategies for 
Exeter and also for the Exeter and Heart of Devon Economic Partnership. 
 

5.2 Members support the key aims and priorities as discussed as the basis for wider 
consultation. 

 
 
 
RICHARD BALL 
HEAD OF ECONOMY AND TOURISM 
 

ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE 
 
 

Page 5



23/05/08  

 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report: 
1. Exeter Vision – the city’s community strategy 
2. Regional Economic Strategy for the South West of England  
3. Exeter and Heart of Devon Economic Development Strategy 2005 – 2008 
4. Scrutiny Committee – Economy, 17 January 2008, ‘Economic Development Service 

Overview 

Page 6



23/05/08 

 
EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ECONOMY 

5 JUNE 2008 
 

SUPPORT FOR SMALL BUSINESSES 
 
 
 
1. PURPOSE 
 
1.1 To update Members on changes to advice for new and small businesses 

directly supported by the City Council. 
 
2. BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 The generation and survival of new businesses is important to the local 

economy in order to create new or perhaps better employment opportunities, 
to replace those who have ceased trading and to enable the economy to 
respond to changing economic circumstances.  In order to help local 
businesses start-up and grow in Exeter, the City Council has facilitated the 
establishment of free advice, training and guidance previously through 
agreement with the Heart of Devon Enterprise Agency and since 2007 with its 
successor, Enterprise South Devon. 

 
2.2 In Exeter the following outputs have been achieved since 2005:- 
 590 pre-start business advised 
 180 businesses have started up 
 123 existing business have been supported and 
 313 jobs have been created with 111 having been safeguarded 
 

Of these, and with much reduced funding, Enterprise South Devon has 
achieved the following:- 

 59 pre-start businesses 
 18 businesses started up 

56 existing businesses supported 
  
2.3 Officers have been in discussion with the University of Exeter Innovation 

Centre and Peninsula Enterprise, the new provider of Business Link services 
for small businesses, and have agreed a more effective joined-up approach 
which is outlined in section 3 below. 

 
2.4 Exeter appears to have a lower rate of entrepreneurial activity than other 

locations. The table below indicates that Exeter’s rate of VAT registered 
businesses per 10,000 of its working age population is around 33, compared 
with much higher rates in other geographic areas. It remains important to 
improve performance on the number of start-ups, not only to broaden Exeter’s 
economic diversity and be more able to withstand the vagaries of the market, 
but also to create employment for residents that might seek ways of 
improving their income.  

 

Agenda Item 8

Page 7



23/05/08 

VAT registrations per 10,000 working age population 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Source: VAT Registrations 2006 and Mid Year Population Estimate 2006 @ 
Crown Copyright 
 
*EHOD – Exeter and Heart of Devon covering Teignbridge, East Devon, Mid 
Devon and Exeter 

 
2.5 In order to nurture the growth of existing businesses and create and 

safeguard jobs, the service has proactively undertaken a range of activities.  
This has included the establishment of the Exeter Business Fund of nearly 
£0.5 million, to assist with gap funding for local businesses to achieve their 
growth plans (when insufficient finance is available from other sources).  The 
Fund has been managed by the South West Investment Group (SWIG), with 
funding from the City Council, HSBC Bank and Business Link Devon and 
Cornwall. 

 
2.6 The flow of enquiries at 42 has been reasonable but with only 6 applications 

having been approved.  A total of £74,500 has been loaned to date and 10 
new jobs have been created, which is below expectations for the Fund 
despite similar funding mechanisms in the region dealing with a much higher 
level of applications and approvals.  This may be a further indication of 
relatively low levels of business formation. 

 
 
3. SUPPORT FOR NEW BUSINESSES 
 
3.1 An agreement has been reached, following consultation with the Portfolio 

Holder, with Peninsula Enterprise and the Innovation Centre to provide a co-
ordinated approach to support for pre-start and new businesses from 1st June 
2008, which will entail the following. 

 

• the City Council’s supported advice will be matched by a second co-
funded business advisor, funded by the University; this will provide extra 
capacity and broaden the skills and knowledge available for all types of 
businesses 

• a base for the two business advisors to operate from the Innovation 
Centre alongside the specialist Innovation Centre advice and also staff 
from Business Link (Peninsula Enterprises) 

• continued opportunity for the business advice to be provided via outreach 
and the meeting of clients in the Civic Centre’s Customer First Centre and 

Area Business 
Registrations 
2006 

Working-age 
Population 
2006 

Rate per 10,000 
working-age 
population 

Exeter 270 80,600 33.5 

East Devon 390 70,100 55.6 

Mid Devon 270 43,800 61.6 

Teignbridge 385 71,800 53.6 

EHOD* 1,315 266,300 49.4 

Devon 3,075 667,700 46.0 

South West 15,745 3,082,800 51.1 

South East 28,680 5,066,300 56.6 

England & Wales 165,935 33,416,600 49.6 

Page 8



23/05/08 

also anywhere else in the city, such as from Exeter College, a client’s 
premises or place of residence 

• an integration of customer handling services with clients being supported 
primarily through a single source by Business Link’s Gateway Service and 
then onward referral to relevant and appropriate support in Exeter – this 
should reduce the administrative burden and thus maximise adviser time 
for delivery of one to one and group workshop support. 

 
3.2 Importantly, this enhancement is resulting in a ‘tripartite working partnership 

between the City Council, the Innovation Centre and Peninsula Enterprise 
and should serve to improve client handling and support in Exeter. The focus 
of the service will be to increase the number of start ups, jobs created and 
consequent survival rate of businesses and will:- 

 

• complement the diagnostic and information providing activities of 
Peninsula Enterprise under the Business Link brand and where there are 
gaps in their service provide direct advice and support (mentoring) for pre-
start, start-up and post start-up businesses  

• support Innovation Centre client businesses  

• liaise with Peninsula Enterprises to ensure continuity between support 
programmes according to the stage of development of the client’s 
business and efficient monitoring and recording of client interventions  

• undertake enterprise development related work in Exeter to encourage 
higher numbers of start-up businesses through awareness events, 
workshops, one-to-one consultations, advisory and mentoring sessions, 
diagnosis, and brokerage and work with other agencies such as Exeter 
College, Job Centre Plus/4AE and Princes Trust to link with their 
enterprise support initiative 

• assist in the University (student, graduate, and staff) enterprise 
development programme to encourage business start ups 

 
3.3 The annual delivery targets for this initiative are for 180 pre-starts and existing 

businesses to be supported, resulting in 30 new businesses starting up. 
 
3.4 The provision of two business advisors has not simply been translated into a 

doubling of target performance based on that achieved through Enterprise 
South Devon operating in Exeter.  A large portion of the additional business 
advisor’s time will be in the handling of potentially higher value and higher 
growth companies forming in Exeter.  These are likely to have more complex 
issues requiring advice and guidance in assisting their establishment and 
successful operation in the city. 

 
3.5 Recognising the need for gap funding to promote business development, a 

new regional fund to support small business is currently in the final stages of 
negotiation between the RDA and a delivery body, to administer the new fund 
on its behalf.  It is understood that this will be in place by the end of 2008.  It 
is recommended that the current fund is maintained until the new fund is in 
place. 

 
 
 
 

Page 9



23/05/08 

4. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 The level of the City Council’s contribution for small business support for 

2008/9 will be £42,000. The Council’s contribution will be subject to a new 
service level agreement with the Innovation Centre setting out expectations 
from the service against the targets included above at 3.  The University are 
contributing a similar amount to this initiative. 

 
4.2 The use of the Council’s contribution to the Exeter Business Fund of £25,000 

per annum will be monitored until the new regional fund replaces it later in the 
year. 

 
5. RECOMMENDED that  
 
5.1 Members note the contents of this report.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
RICHARD BALL 
HEAD OF ECONOMY AND TOURISM 
 

ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE 
 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background Papers used in compiling the report: -  

 

1. Scrutiny Committee Economy 18 January 2007 - Update Heart of Devon Enterprise Agency 

Page 10



23/05/08 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –ECONOMY 
5 JUNE 2008 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING REPORT (2007/08 OUTTURN) 

 

 

 

1 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
 

1.1 This report advises Members of the latest position with regard to the 2007/08 
Capital Programme for Economy. 

  
2 INFORMATION 

 
2.1 The Capital Programme was last reviewed by Scrutiny Economy on 7 

November 2007. This report provides a summary of the position at the end of 
the financial year. Annex A gives a complete list of capital projects. A number 
of schemes are worthy of particular highlight and these are detailed below. 

  
 Canal Basin and Quayside 
2.2 Works have commenced on the Old Electricity Building, with the new 

development on the site adjoining this building now close to completion. A 
development agreement has been put in place with Signpost which represents 
a significant step forward and will deliver 14 affordable housing units for the 
site adjoining 60 Haven Road. Enabling works will start shortly. Meanwhile, 
development agreements for 60 Haven Road, the Maclaines Warehouse and 
the site adjoining Maclaines should be in place with Sutton Harbour by the 
time of this Committee, with work commencing in the summer. A planning 
application and the issue of tender documentation for the link road through 
Haven Road car park and associated boat laying up area is imminent, subject 
to final agreement of the scheme with the Environment Agency. Works have 
commenced on the new building in the Haven Road car park to house Bridger 
Marine.  The planned improvements to the Kings Arms Isthmus (‘the buoy’) 
and lighting to the riverside walkway are also completed, subject to power 
connections. 

  
2.3 Expenditure in 2007/08 represents the programmed acquisition of the existing 

Bridger Marine lease in Haven Road (£115,000) and preliminary design work 
on the link road. The remainder of the 07/08 budget will be rolled forward into 
2008/09 with slippage the result of protracted negotiations with the 
Environment Agency and others on the design of the road. As a result of the 
need for Signpost to spend circa £100,000 on a drain diversion for the site 
adjoining 60 Haven Road, the receipt to the City Council for this site will 
reduce by that cost.  

  
 City Centre Enhancements 
2.4 This project covers four elements of work: 1) the enhancement to the Guildhall 

section of High Street (match funded with Devon County Council); 2) Paris 
Street public realm (matched funded with Devon County Council); 3) Cricklepit 
area public realm paving and railings and 4) Martins Lane public realm. 
Guildhall area works are now complete with the exception of the replacement 
of the riddle paving near the Guildhall itself. Cricklepit works are also now 

Agenda Item 9

Page 11



23/05/08 

complete with two mill wheels now back in operation. The Devon Wildlife Trust 
has moved its headquarters to the site and a formal opening ceremony has 
been held.  The final phase of work relating to Paris Street and Sidwell Street 
is expected to be completed by July. Improvements include the widening of 
pavements, installation of new seating and other street furniture, additional 
planting, cycle contra-flow lane and improved pedestrian crossing 
arrangements.  A design for Martins Lane which includes replacement paving 
is currently being developed jointly with Devon County Council, with a view to 
implementation later in 2008/09. Meanwhile, payment for Paris Street 
improvements will now take place in 2008/09 on completion of works – hence 
deferral of funds to 2008/09. 

  
2.5 Fore Street, Heavitree Environmental Enhancements 
 The detailed design work is now complete. Planning approval will be required 

for the main art work and an application is expected to be submitted very 
shortly. County Council colleagues are expecting to issues tenders for work in 
the very near future with a move on-site following shortly thereafter. Planting 
enhancements will follow in the Autumn. Given that works on site will now 
start in 2008/09, the remaining budget allocated to 2007/08 (£44,210) will be 
rolled forward. 

  
 Guildhall Car Park Comprehensive Refurbishment and introduction of ‘pay-on-

foot’ at Guildhall and Mary Arches Street 
2.6 This project, which included significant structural enhancements, resurfacing, 

waterproofing, and provision of a new attendants’ office, was completed in 
early 2007/08. The Car Park was recently ‘commended’ for the improvements 
at the 2008 British Parking Awards.  A saving of £9,000 on budget will be 
used to contribute to improvements to staff facilities (additional changing/ 
shower facilities) at King William Street Car Park, linked to the employment of 
extra staff under the new Civil Parking Enforcement regime.  Costs for these 
additional works are provisionally estimated to be £40,000 which would result 
in an overall overspend of £31,000 against this budget. 

  
2.7 Several improvements to pedestrian exit signing and circulation areas have 

also been introduced at Mary Arches Street following a small number of 
incidents involving pedestrians exiting too close to the automatic barriers at 
Mary Arches Street Car Park. An additional barrier at the bottom of the ramp 
at Guildhall Car Park has also been introduced to avoid vehicles queuing on 
the ramp itself, when the car park is full. 

  
 New Stalls for Farmers Market 
2.8 Members will be aware that as part of the long-term establishment of the 

Farmer’s Market on the corner of Fore Street/South Street, the Council has 
committed to the purchase of new stalls. Standard sizes stalls have now been 
purchased and are in use with positive feedback from stall-holders. A limited 
number of larger stalls will be purchased shortly, subject to resolving design 
issues. A cost saving of £9,883 is expected. 

  
 Riverside Valley Park Security Measures 
2.9 Two new barriers have been installed with improved locks. A contract for 

additional works (to include bollards and depressions to the access track 
within the park) is to be let shortly. Further work to create a ditch to land on 
the City Council boundary adjoining neighbouring farmland is also planned, 
subject to the agreement of the Environment Agency. Officers will continue to 
monitor the adequacy of these arrangements and will consider further 

Page 12



23/05/08 

proposals as necessary, subject again to the agreement of the Environment 
Agency. 

  
 Strategic Signage 
2.10 Members have agreed a package of signage improvements planned for the 

City Centre and key transport gateways. This work will be going out to tender 
shortly with installation of new signs expected during the Autumn. 

  
 Significant new commitments for 2008/09: Cowick Street Enhancements 

(£200,000 allocated in 08/09 and in 09/10) 
2.11 Preliminary design work has started and concepts will be discussed shortly 

with the Portfolio Holder and with Ward Members. 
  
3 RECOMMENDED 

 
3.1 It is recommended that Members note the content of this report on capital 

programme 2007/08 outturn. 
 

  
  
 

 
 
  
David Betteley 
Directorate Projects Officer 
 
 
 
John Rigby 
Director Economy and Development 
 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 
Background papers used in compiling this report: 
None 

 

Page 13



Page 14

This page is intentionally left blank



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

B
ar
th

o
lo

m
ew

 T
er
ra
ce

 
Z
1
1
9
0

D
H

7
,7
5
0

8
,3
2
5

0
0

5
7
5

R
et
ai
n
in

g
 W

al
l

B
as

in
/Q

u
ay

si
d
e

Z
1
1
3
9

D
P

2
5
1
,6
1
0

1
5
1
,2
3
3

1
,1
4
7
,0
0
0

1
,2
6
9
,6
5
0

1
0
9
,7
7
0

9
,3
9
0

S
ee

 C
o
m
m
it
te
e 
R
ep

o
rt

(r
ed

ev
el
o
p
m
en

t 
o
f 
ca

n
a
l 
b
a
si
n
; 

re
fu
rb

is
h
ed

 l
is
te
d
 b
u
il
d
in
g
s;
 

im
p
ro

ve
d
 p
u
b
li
c 
a
cc

es
s 
to
 a
re
a
 &

 

co
n
ti
n
u
ed

 a
ct
iv
it
y 
o
n
 w

a
te
r)

B
ea

co
n
 L

an
e 
S
h
o
p
s

Z
1
2
5
0

D
P

1
1
6
,8
0
0

1
1
5
,9
8
3

0
0

(8
1
7
)

T
h
e 
w
o
rk

s 
to

 r
ec

o
n
fi
g
u
re
 t
h
e 
re
ta
il
 u
n
it
s 
in

 t
h
e 
B
ea

co
n
 

L
an

e 
p
ar
ad

e 
ar
e 
co

m
p
le
te
. 
W

il
k
ie
s 
S
to

re
s 
an

d
 t
h
e 

ad
jo

in
in

g
 h
ai
rd

re
ss

er
 a
re
 n
o
w
 t
ra
d
in

g
 f
ro

m
 t
h
ei
r 
n
ew

 

p
re
m

is
es

. 
S
m

al
l 
u
n
d
er
sp

en
d
 o
n
 r
ev

is
ed

 b
u
d
g
et
.

B
ra
d
n
in

ch
 P

la
ce

 B
as

em
en

t
Z
1
2
0
7

D
P

4
0
,0
7
0

3
9
,1
5
3

0
0

(9
1
7
)

W
o
rk

s 
to

 r
ec

o
n
fi
g
u
re
 t
h
e 
b
as

em
en

t 
sp

ac
e 
ar
e 
co

m
p
le
te
, 

an
d
 a
 l
ea

se
 t
o
 t
h
e 
P
h
o
en

ix
 i
s 
in

 p
la
ce

. 
T
h
e 
P
h
o
en

ix
 a
re
 

cl
o
se

 t
o
 c
o
m

p
le
ti
n
g
 t
h
ei
r 
fi
t 
o
u
t 
w
o
rk

s.
 T

h
e 
sp

ac
e 
is
 t
o
 b
e 

u
se

d
 f
o
r 
a 
re
co

rd
in

g
 s
tu

d
io

, 
ra
d
io

 s
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 a
rt
s 

in
cu

b
at
io

n
 u
n
it
s.

A
re
a 
Im

p
ro

v
em

en
t

S
ch

em
e 
co

st
s 
ex

p
ec

te
d
 t
o
 b
e 
cl
o
se

 t
o
 b
u
d
g
et
.

C
at
h
ed

ra
l 
Y
ar
d
 

&
C
lo

se
/N

ew
 C

u
t

Z
1
2
0
5

JR
 (
C
h
ri
s 

W
'L

ak
e)

1
6
2
,3
7
0

1
5
5
,3
8
2

0
0

6
,9
9
0

P
av

in
g
/s
tr
ee

t 
w
o
rk

s 
n
o
w
 c
o
m

p
le
te
. 
P
ro

p
o
sa

ls
 f
o
r 
a 
k
io

sk
 

in
 C

at
h
ed

ra
l 
Y
ar
d
 a
re
 b
ei
n
g
 e
x
p
lo

re
d
 a
n
d
 t
h
e 
re
p
la
ce

m
en

t 

o
f 
ex

is
ti
n
g
 l
ig

h
ti
n
g
 c
o
lu

m
n
s 
w
il
l 
b
e 
d
ea

lt
 w

it
h
 a
s 
p
ar
t 
o
f 

th
e 
D
ea

n
 a
n
d
 C

h
ap

te
r'
s 
em

er
g
in

g
 p
la
n
 f
o
r 
th

e 
C
at
h
ed

ra
l 

p
re
ci
n
ct
.

C
en

tr
al
 S

ta
ti
o
n
 G

at
ew

ay
 

E
n
h
an

ce
m

en
t

R
P
S

0
0

1
2
2
,6
1
0

1
2
2
,6
2
0

F
o
ll
o
w
in

g
 E

C
C
/D

C
C
 m

ee
ti
n
g
 i
n
 e
ar
ly

 M
ay

, 
N
et
w
o
rk

 

R
ai
l 
ar
e 
b
ei
n
g
 i
n
v
it
ed

 t
o
 c
o
n
fi
rm

 a
g
re
em

en
t 
to

 t
h
e 

p
ri
n
ci
p
le
 o
f 
re
m

o
v
in

g
 a
ll
 v
eh

ic
le
s 
fr
o
m

 t
h
e 
fo

re
co

u
rt
 

fo
ll
o
w
in

g
 w

h
ic
h
 d
es

ig
n
 d
et
ai
li
n
g
 w

il
l 
p
ro

ce
ed

.

C
C
T
V
 I
m

p
ro

v
em

en
ts
 a
t 

C
ar
 P

ar
k
s

Z
1
2
0
6

R
D
C

3
,9
5
0

5
0

0
0

3
,9
0
0

T
o
 b
e 
d
ef
er
re
d
 t
o
 0
8
/0

9
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
ib

u
te
 t
o
 i
n
st
al
la
ti
o
n
 o
f 

C
C
T
V
 a
t 
T
ri
an

g
le
 C

ar
 P

ar
k

C
C
T
V
 S

p
ec

ia
li
st
 

C
o
n
su

lt
an

cy
Z
1
1
9
5

JR
1
8
,0
0
0

1
7
,7
5
0

1
5
,0
0
0

1
5
,0
0
0

2
5
0

S
p
ec

ia
li
st
 c
o
n
su

lt
an

cy
 s
er
v
ic
es

 p
ro

v
id

ed
 b
y
 J
M

T
. 

R
eg

u
la
r 
ad

v
ic
e 
p
ro

v
id

ed
 o
n
 C

C
T
V
 s
y
st
em

 e
x
p
an

si
o
n
. 

A
d
v
ic
e

C
C
T
V
 p
ro

v
is
io

n
 a
t 
H
av

en
 

R
o
ad

 C
ar
 P

ar
k
 &

 B
o
at
 

S
to

ra
g
e 
A
re
a

Z
1
1
5
2

R
D
C

0
0

6
0
,0
0
0

0

S
u
b
je
ct
 t
o
 w

o
rk

 o
n
 H

av
en

 R
d
 C

ar
 P

ar
k
 a
s 
p
ar
t 
o
f 
m

ai
n
 

ca
n
al
 b
as

in
 p
ro

je
ct

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

U
se

d
 t
o
 i
m

p
ro

v
e 
d
ra
in

ag
e 
o
n
 B

ar
th

o
lo

m
ew

 C
ar
 P

ar
k

Page 15



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

C
it
y
 C

en
tr
e 
E
n
h
an

ce
m

en
ts

Z
1
1
1
6

JR
 (
C
h
ri
s 

W
't
la
k
e)

4
8
7
,8
5
0

3
5
7
,6
2
4

2
0
0
,0
0
0

2
0
0
,0
0
0

1
3
0
,2
3
0

S
ee

 M
ai
n
 C

o
m

m
it
te
e 
R
ep

o
rt

G
u
il
d
h
a
ll
 a
re
a
 o
f 
H
ig
h
 

S
tr
ee
t,
 C

ri
ck
le
p
it
 A
re
a
, 

P
a
ri
s 
S
tr
ee
t 
a
n
d
 M

a
rt
in
s 

L
a
n
e.

C
iv

ic
 C

en
tr
e 
C
ar
 P

ar
k
 

E
le
ct
ro

n
ic
 S

h
u
tt
er
s 
&

 

B
ar
ri
er
s

Z
1
2
5
7

S
C

1
3
,5
5
0

1
3
,5
5
2

0
0

2
W

o
rk

s 
co

m
p
le
te

C
o
n
se

rv
at
io

n
 A

re
a 

E
n
h
an

ce
m

en
ts

Z
1
1
8
3

R
P
S

2
0
,0
0
0

7
,5
3
6

3
1
,0
0
0

0
1
2
,4
6
0

P
re
p
ar
at
o
ry

 w
o
rk

 o
n
 s
ch

em
es

 f
o
r 
th

is
 p
ro

g
ra
m

m
e 
w
as

 

d
el
ay

ed
 e
ar
li
er
 t
h
is
 y
ea

r,
 g
iv

en
 c
o
m

m
it
m

en
ts
 e
ls
ew

h
er
e 

in
 t
h
e 
ca

p
it
al
 p
ro

g
ra
m

m
e.
 A

 r
an

g
e 
o
f 
p
ro

p
o
sa

ls
, 
in

cl
u
d
in

g
 

£
2
6
,0
0
0
 r
es

er
v
ed

 f
o
r 
'f
ac

el
if
t'
 w

o
rk

 i
n
 t
h
e 
co

m
m

er
ci
al
 

co
n
se

rv
at
io

n
 a
re
as

 (
i.
e.
 E

x
w
ic
k
, 
L
o
n
g
b
ro

o
k
, 
S
t 
D
av

id
s,
 

S
t 
S
id

w
el
ls
 a
n
d
 S

t 
L
eo

n
ar
d
s)
, 
w
er
e 
p
re
se

n
te
d
 t
o
 P

la
n
n
in

g
 

M
em

b
er
 W

o
rk

in
g
 G

ro
u
p
 i
n
 M

ar
ch

 (
to

 s
ta
rt
 i
n
 0
8
/0

9
).
 

C
o
m

m
er
ci
al
 p
re
m

is
es

 i
n
 t
h
es

e 
ar
ea

s 
w
il
l 
b
e 
in

v
it
ed

 t
o
 

su
b
m

it
 a
p
p
li
ca

ti
o
n
s 
fo

r 
fu

n
d
in

g
 t
o
 s
ec

u
re
 e
n
h
an

ce
m

en
ts
. 

In
 t
h
e 
m

ea
n
ti
m

e,
 s
o
m

e 
fu

n
d
in

g
 s
p
en

t 
o
n
 M

in
to

n
 T

il
es

 f
o
r 

st
re
et
 n
am

es
. 

C
ri
ck

le
p
it
 M

il
l

Z
1
1
3
7

A
 P

y
e 
(D

P
 

al
so

)
8
4
,8
0
0

8
4
,8
0
1

0
0

1

T
h
e 
ex

te
n
si
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
v
er
si
o
n
 h
av

e 
n
o
w
 b
ee

n
 c
o
m

p
le
te
d
 

an
d
 t
h
e 
D
ev

o
n
 W

il
d
li
fe
 T

ru
st
 h
av

e 
n
o
w
 m

o
v
ed

 i
n
. 
T
h
e 

re
m

ai
n
d
er
 o
f 
th

e 
b
u
d
g
et
 h
as

 b
ee

n
 p
ai
d
 o
v
er
 a
s 
g
ra
n
t.

C
ri
ck

le
p
it
 S

tr
ee

t 
W

al
l 

R
ep

ai
rs

Z
1
1
2
8

D
H

9
4
,1
1
0

9
9
,7
2
8

0
0

5
,6
1
8
W

o
rk

s 
co

m
p
le
te
d
, 
w
it
h
 s
m

al
l 
o
v
er
sp

en
d
 l
ik

el
y
.

Page 16



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

C
u
st
o
m

 H
o
u
se

Z
1
1
2
1

D
P
 (
M

ik
e 

C
ar
so

n
)

3
5
3
,7
4
0

3
1
9
,4
9
2

0
0

3
4
,2
5
0

T
h
e 
re
st
o
ra
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 c
o
n
v
er
si
o
n
 w

o
rk

s 
to

 t
h
e 
C
u
st
o
m

 

H
o
u
se

 a
re
 c
o
m

p
le
te
 a
n
d
 e
x
p
ec

te
d
 t
o
 b
e 
b
ro

ad
ly

 o
n
 

b
u
d
g
et
 o
n
ce

 t
h
e 
fi
n
al
 a
cc

o
u
n
t 
is
 s
et
tl
ed

 i
n
 0
8
/0

9
. 
A
F
U
 

h
av

e 
ta
k
en

 u
p
 o
cc

u
p
at
io

n
.

C
u
st
o
m

 H
o
u
se

 O
p
ti
c 
F
ib

re
 

L
in

k
Z
1
2
5
5

D
H
/D

P
/R

C

ra
n
e

2
2
,5
0
0

1
3
,1
0
6

0
0

(9
,3
9
0
)

O
p
ti
c 
fi
b
re
 l
ai
d
. 
R
em

ai
n
in

g
 b
u
d
g
et
 t
o
 b
e 
tr
an

sf
er
re
d
 t
o
 

C
an

al
 B

as
in

/Q
u
ay

si
d
e 
 t
o
 c
o
n
tr
ib

u
te
 t
o
 p
ro

p
o
sa

ls
 f
o
r 
an

 

ex
te
n
d
ed

 l
in

k
 t
o
 t
h
e 
A
rk

.

E
x
e 
E
st
u
ar
y
 N

C
N

Z
1
1
0
7

D
H

2
6
,6
0
0

3
0
,9
9
7

3
0
,0
0
0

0
(4

,4
0
0
)

W
id

en
in

g
 a
n
d
 r
es

u
rf
ac

in
g
 w

o
rk

s 
ar
e 
n
o
w
 c
o
m

p
le
te
. 

S
o
m

e 
m

in
o
r 
re
p
ai
rs
 a
re
 e
x
p
ec

te
d
 t
o
 b
e 
ca

rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 
o
v
er
 

S
u
m

m
er
 2
0
0
8
 (
w
it
h
 D

C
C
) 
-a
n
d
, 
as

 s
u
ch

, 
th

e 
fi
n
al
 

re
te
n
ti
o
n
 p
ay

m
en

t 
h
as

 b
ee

n
 w

it
h
h
el
d
/h

as
 n
o
t 
y
et
 b
ee

n
 

p
ai
d
 (
re
la
ti
n
g
 t
o
 B

ri
d
g
e 
R
d
 -
 A

lp
h
in

 B
ro

o
k
),
 p
en

d
in

g
 

co
m

p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
th

es
e 
re
m

ed
ia
l 
w
o
rk

s.
 A

d
d
it
io

n
al
 f
u
n
d
in

g
 

o
f 
£
3
0
,0
0
0
 a
g
re
ed

 b
y
 E

x
ec

u
ti
v
e 
o
n
 1
1
 F

eb
 2
0
0
8
 t
o
 

co
m

p
le
te
 w

o
rk

s 
to

 t
h
e 
se

ct
io

n
 o
f 
th

e 
ro

u
te
 b
et
w
ee

n
 t
h
e 
b
y
-

p
as

s 
an

d
 L

im
e 
K
il
n
s.
.

E
x
w
ic
k
 W

al
ls

Z
1
1
7
9

D
H

3
4
,1
6
0

1
2
,0
8
9

3
1
,0
0
0

0
2
2
,0
7
0

B
u
d
g
et
 f
o
r 
o
n
g
o
in

g
 i
m

p
ro

v
em

en
ts
 t
o
 d
am

ag
ed

 w
al
ls
 i
n
 

E
x
w
ic
k
. 
 S

o
m

e 
in

it
ia
l 
sp

en
d
 i
n
 0
7
/0

8
 o
n
 F

ar
m

 H
il
l 

re
p
ai
rs
. 
A
p
p
ro

x
 f
u
rt
h
er
 £
2
0
k
 n
ee

d
ed

 f
o
r 
m

o
re
 

st
ab

il
is
at
io

n
 w

o
rk

s 
at
 F

ar
m

 H
il
l,
 o
f 
w
h
ic
h
, 
w
o
rk

 v
al
u
ed

 a
t 

£
9
,5
0
0
, 
o
ri
g
in

al
ly

 p
la
n
n
ed

 f
o
r 
0
7
/0

8
, 
h
as

 j
u
st
 b
ee

n
 

co
m

p
le
te
d
 (
an

d
 w

il
l 
b
e 
ch

ar
g
ed

 t
o
 0
8
/0

9
).
 T

h
e 
o
ri
g
in

al
 

b
u
d
g
et
ed

 s
u
m

 a
ll
o
w
ed

 f
o
r 
re
p
ai
rs
 t
o
 t
h
e 
H
o
w
ar
d
 C

lo
se

 

w
al
ls
. 
 T

h
e 
w
al
ls
 a
re
 o
n
 u
n
ad

o
p
te
d
 l
an

d
 h
el
d
 b
y
 s
ev

er
al
 

p
ar
ti
es

. 
 A

lt
h
o
u
g
h
 t
h
ei
r 
co

n
d
it
io

n
 i
s 
o
f 
co

n
ce

rn
 t
h
ey

 a
re
 

n
o
t 
co

n
si
d
er
ed

 t
o
 b
e 
in

 a
 d
an

g
er
o
u
s 
co

n
d
it
io

n
.

Page 17



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

F
en

ci
n
g
 a
t 
K
in

g
 W

il
li
am

 
Z
1
1
8
9

R
D
C

2
3
,1
5
0

2
1
,2
0
0

0
0

(1
,9
5
0
)

S
tr
ee

t

F
o
re
 S

t,
 H

ea
v
it
re
e 
- 

E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

en
ta
l 

E
n
h
an

ce
m

en
t

Z
1
1
0
5

R
P
S

6
0
,0
0
0

1
5
,7
8
8

4
9
2
,1
4
0

0
4
4
,2
1
0

S
ee

 m
ai
n
 C

o
m

m
it
te
e 
R
ep

o
rt

F
lo

o
d
li
g
h
ti
n
g

Z
1
1
5
6

R
P
S
 (
A
n
d
y
 

P
y
e)

3
1
,5
6
0

2
2
,9
8
9

1
2
,0
0
0

0
8
,5
7
0

S
ch

em
es

 f
o
r 
B
u
rn

et
 P

at
ch

 B
ri
d
g
e,
 C

u
st
o
m

 H
o
u
se

, 

C
ri
ck

le
p
it
 M

il
l 
an

d
 t
h
e 
G
u
il
d
h
al
l 
h
av

e 
b
ee

n
 d
es

ig
n
ed

 a
n
d
 

im
p
le
m

en
te
d
 d
u
ri
n
g
 0
7
/0

8
. 
S
o
m

e 
fu

rt
h
er
 e
x
p
en

d
it
u
re
 o
n
 

re
fu

rb
is
h
in

g
 t
h
e 
th

re
e 
re
m

ai
n
in

g
 o
ld

 c
h
u
rc
h
 s
ch

em
es

 i
s 

in
te
n
d
ed

 w
h
er
e 
p
ra
ct
ic
al
. 
F
u
rt
h
er
 s
ch

em
es

 a
re
 e
x
p
ec

te
d
 

to
 b
e 
b
ro

u
g
h
t 
fo

rw
ar
d
 i
n
 d
u
e 
co

u
rs
e 
- 
h
en

ce
 d
ef
er
ra
l 
to

 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
. 
  

G
at
ew

ay
 F

ea
tu

re
s

Z
1
1
4
0

R
P
S

3
0
,1
3
0

2
5
,8
2
8

0
(4

,3
0
2
)

R
ep

la
ce

m
en

t 
o
f 
o
ri
g
in

al
 p
la
n
ti
n
g
 a
n
d
 i
n
tr
o
d
u
ct
io

n
 o
f 

ad
d
it
io

n
al
 p
la
n
ti
n
g
 a
t 
B
ad

 H
o
m

b
u
rg

 W
ay

 n
o
w
 c
o
m

p
le
te
.

G
u
il
d
h
al
l 
C
ar
 P

ar
k
 -
 M

aj
o
r

Z
1
1
3
4

R
D
C

6
7
9
,4
5
0

6
7
0
,3
9
9

0
0

4
0
,0
0
0

3
0
,9
5
0
S
ee

 M
ai
n
 C

o
m

m
it
te
e 
R
ep

o
rt

R
ef
u
rb

is
h
m

en
t 
&

 

In
st
al
la
ti
o
n

o
f 
P
ay

 o
n
 F

o
o
t

H
er
it
ag

e 
C
en

tr
e 

(u
n
d
er
g
ro

u
n
d
 p
as

sa
g
es

)
Z
1
1
5
9

R
B

2
0
0
,1
6
0

2
1
1
,7
5
6

0
0

1
1
,5
9
6

W
o
rk

 c
o
m

p
le
te
 a
n
d
 c
en

tr
e 
o
p
er
at
in

g
 s
u
cc

es
sf
u
ll
y
. 
S
li
g
h
t 

o
v
er
sp

en
d
 d
u
e 
to

 t
h
e 
u
se

 o
f 
ti
m

b
er
 f
ro

m
 m

an
ag

ed
 

so
u
rc
es

.

In
it
ia
l 
w
o
rk

 o
n
 i
m

p
ro

v
in

g
 n
ig

h
t-
ti
m

e 
se

cu
ri
ty

 c
o
m

p
le
te
d
. 

F
u
rt
h
er
 s
ec

u
ri
ty

 w
o
rk

s 
(t
o
 e
n
h
an

ce
 d
ay

/e
ar
ly

-e
v
en

in
g
 

se
cu

ri
ty

) 
h
av

e 
b
ee

n
 u
n
d
er
ta
k
en

. 
A
n
 u
n
d
er
sp

en
d
 o
f 
£
1
9
5
0
 

is
 e
x
p
ec

te
d
.

Page 18



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

Ib
st
o
ck

 E
n
v
ir
o
n
m

en
ta
l 

Im
p
ro

v
em

en
ts

Z
1
4
0
7

D
P

4
,4
5
0

0
0

0
4
,4
5
0

L
ei
g
h
to

n
 T

er
ra
ce

 C
ar
 P

ar
k
 

F
en

ci
n
g

Z
1
2
2
2

R
D
C

8
,8
9
0

1
,9
6
0

0
0

(6
,9
3
0
)
P
ro

je
ct
 c
o
m

p
le
te
. 
U
n
d
er
sp

en
d
 o
f 
£
6
9
3
0
 d
ec

la
re
d
.

L
iv

es
to

ck
 C

en
tr
e 
- 
6
 

A
m

b
ir
ad

- 
H
ea

te
rs
 i
n
 R

o
o
f

Z
1
2
2
1

D
P

5
,5
0
0

5
,5
0
0

0
0

W
o
rk

s 
co

m
p
le
te
 a
n
d
 b
u
d
g
et
 s
p
en

t

M
ar
y
 A

rc
h
es

 S
tr
u
ct
u
ra
l

Z
1
1
8
0

R
D
C

1
3
,3
2
0

1
3
,1
8
8

0
0

(1
3
2
)

S
tr
u
ct
u
ra
l 
el
em

en
ts
  
(b

u
il
d
in

g
 u
p
 w

al
l,
 r
ai
si
n
g
 h
ei
g
h
t 
o
f 

in
sp

ec
ti
o
n
) 
an

d
 l
an

d
sc

ap
in

g
 a
re
 n
o
w
 c
o
m

p
le
te
.

Im
p
ro

v
em

en
ts

M
at
fo

rd
 C

en
tr
e 
T
o
il
et
s

Z
1
2
1
4

D
P

2
,4
3
0

2
,4
1
0

0
0

(2
0
)
W

o
rk

s 
co

m
p
le
te
 a
n
d
 b
u
d
g
et
 s
p
en

t

M
et
 O

ff
ic
e

Z
1
1
7
6

JR
3
5
,0
0
0

3
5
,0
0
0

8
,7
5
0

C
it
y
 C

o
u
n
ci
l 
co

n
tr
ib

u
ti
o
n
 t
o
 p
ro

v
is
io

n
 o
f 
lo

ca
l 
b
u
se

s 
 

(p
ar
t 
o
f 
in

fr
as

tr
u
ct
u
re
 a
g
re
em

en
t 
w
it
h
 D

C
C
).

N
ew

 S
ta
ll
s 
fo

r 
F
ar
m

er
s 

M
ar
k
et

Z
1
2
5
1

D
P

5
0
,0
0
0

3
2
,1
1
7

0
0

8
,0
0
0

(9
,8
8
3
)
S
ee

 m
ai
n
 c
o
m

m
it
te
e 
re
p
o
rt

In
 l
in

e 
w
it
h
 E

x
ec

u
ti
v
e 
d
ec

is
io

n
 o
n
 2
3
 J
an

 0
7
, 
re
so

lv
ed

 t
o
 

le
n
d
 t
h
e 
N
o
rt
h
co

tt
 T

h
ea

tr
e 
£
2
0
0
,0
0
0
 i
n
 o
rd

er
 t
o
 c
lo

se
 t
h
e 

g
ap

 o
n
 t
h
ei
r 
fu

n
d
in

g
 a
p
p
ea

l.

N
o
rt
h
co

tt
 T

h
ea

tr
e 
L
o
an

Z
1
1
8
6

2
0
0
,0
0
0

2
0
0
,0
0
0

0

P
ar
k
in

g
 E

n
fo

rc
em

en
t 

S
y
st
em

Z
1
5
1
6

R
D
C

1
6
,5
5
0

1
,5
4
6

5
0
,0
0
0

0
1
5
,0
0
0

P
ro

je
ct
 s
li
p
p
ag

e 
b
ec

au
se

 o
f 
ea

rl
ie
r 
d
el
ay

s 
in

 t
h
e 
d
es

ig
n
 o
f 

th
e 
n
ew

 s
y
st
em

 o
f 
C
iv

il
 P

ar
k
in

g
 E

n
fo

rc
em

en
t.
 0
7
/0

8
 

ex
p
en

d
it
u
re
 d
ef
er
re
d
 t
o
 0
8
/0

9

D
el
ay

s 
ca

n
 b
e 
at
tr
ib

u
te
d
 t
o
 a
 l
ac

k
 o
f 
p
ro

g
re
ss

 b
y
 t
h
e 

d
ev

el
o
p
er
 i
n
 p
u
rs
u
in

g
 c
o
m

p
le
ti
o
n
 o
f 
en

v
ir
o
n
m

en
ta
l 

im
p
ro

v
em

en
ts
. 
H
o
w
ev

er
, 
so

m
e 
p
ro

g
re
ss

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 m

ad
e 

o
f 
la
te
, 
an

d
 f
u
rt
h
er
 e
x
p
en

d
it
u
re
 i
s 
ex

p
ec

te
d
 i
n
 0
8
/0

9

Page 19



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

P
la
n
n
in

g
 D

el
iv

er
y
 G

ra
n
t 

S
ch

em
es

Z
1
9

R
S

8
1
,7
3
0

2
3
,5
0
0

4
2
,0
2
0

0
5
8
,2
3
0

F
u
rt
h
er
 I
T
 i
n
v
es

tm
en

t 
in

 2
0
0
7
/0

8
 (
in

cl
u
d
in

g
 P

la
n
te
ch

 

co
st
s 
o
f 
sw

ap
p
in

g
 I
T
 s
er
v
er
) 
an

d
 l
an

d
sc

ap
in

g
 

im
p
ro

v
em

en
ts
 a
ro

u
n
d
 c
u
st
o
m

er
 s
er
v
ic
e 
ce

n
tr
e.
 T

h
e 

d
ef
er
m

en
t 
to

 2
0
0
8
/0

9
 f
o
ll
o
w
s 
a 
re
v
ie
w
 o
f 
al
lo

ca
te
d
 

b
u
d
g
et
. 
In

 p
ar
ti
cu

la
r,
 a
cq

u
is
it
io

n
 o
f 
an

 I
T
 m

o
d
u
le
 r
el
at
in

g
 

to
 T

re
e 
P
re
se

rv
at
io

n
 O

rd
er
 a
p
p
li
ca

ti
o
n
s 
is
 n
o
t 
p
ro

ce
ed

in
g
 

fo
ll
o
w
in

g
 e
v
al
u
at
io

n
. 
A
 d
ec

is
io

n
 o
n
 a
n
 L

D
F
 

re
p
re
se

n
ta
ti
o
n
s 
sy

st
em

 h
as

 b
ee

n
 d
ef
er
re
d
 t
o
 r
ef
le
ct
 t
h
e 

re
v
is
ed

 p
ro

g
ra
m

m
e 
fo

r 
su

b
m

is
si
o
n
 o
f 
th

e 
co

re
 s
tr
at
eg

y
. 

2
0
0
8
/0

9
 a
ll
o
ca

te
d
 e
x
p
en

d
it
u
re
 i
n
cl
u
d
es

 v
ar
io

u
s 
IT

-r
el
at
ed

 

en
h
an

ce
m

en
ts
 (
P
la
n
n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
it
te
e 
re
p
o
rt
s 
o
n
li
n
e;
 

L
is
te
d
 B

u
il
d
in

g
s 
A
p
p
li
ca

ti
o
n
 M

o
d
u
le
; 
an

d
 

re
p
re
se

n
ta
ti
o
n
s 
an

d
 e
n
fo

rc
em

en
t 
m

o
d
u
le
s)
; 
la
n
d
sc

ap
in

g
 

en
h
an

ce
m

en
t 
o
n
 t
h
e 
H
o
n
it
o
n
 R

d
 c
o
rr
id

o
r 
an

d
 m

u
ra
l 
w
o
rk

 

o
n
 G

an
d
y
 S

tr
ee

t.
 O

th
er
 a
ll
o
ca

ti
o
n
s 
w
il
l 
b
e 
m

ad
e 
in

 d
u
e 

co
u
rs
e.
 

P
la
n
ti
n
g
 I
m

p
ro

v
em

en
ts
 i
n
 

R
iv

er
si
d
e 
V
al
le
y
 P

ar
k

Z
1
4
0
8

R
S

2
,7
0
0

5
8
8

1
2
,1
4
0

0
2
,1
1
0

S
o
m

e 
ex

p
en

d
it
u
re
 o
n
 p
la
n
ti
n
g
 w

o
rk

s 
ar
o
u
n
d
 W

at
er
 L

an
e 

T
ip

. 
 I
t 
is
 p
la
n
n
ed

 t
o
 s
p
en

d
 a
 f
u
rt
h
er
 £
1
2
,0
6
0
 o
n
 p
la
n
ti
n
g
 

in
 t
h
e 
v
ic
in

it
y
 o
f 
M

ak
ro

 i
n
 0
8
/0

9
, 
su

b
je
ct
 t
o
 c
o
n
su

lt
at
io

n
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e 
E
A
. 
 F

u
n
d
s 
fr
o
m

 S
1
0
6
 m

o
n
ie
s.

R
iv

er
si
d
e 
V
al
le
y
 P

ar
k
 

S
ec

u
ri
ty

 M
ea

su
re
s

Z
1
2
5
4

D
H

7
0
,9
3
0

1
8
,6
2
7

0
0

5
2
,3
0
0

S
ee

 M
ai
n
 C

o
m

m
it
te
e 
R
ep

o
rt

Page 20



1
2

3
4

5
8

9
1
0

1
1

1
2

P
ro
je
ct

C
o
d
e

L
ea
d
 

o
ff
ic
er

B
u
d
g
et
 0
7
/0
8

0
7
/0
8
 S
p
en
d
 

(i
n
cl
u
d
es
 i
n
te
rn
a
l 

ca
p
it
a
li
se
d
 s
ta
ff
 

co
st
s)
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  

B
u
d
g
et
 0
8
/0
9

B
ey
o
n
d

V
a
lu
e 
o
f 
es
ti
m
a
te
d
 

D
ef
er
re
d
 E
x
p
en
d
it
u
re
 

in
to
 0
8
/0
9
 

P
ro
je
ct
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
 

(u
n
d
er
sp
en
d
)/
 o
v
er
sp
en
d
 

P
ro
je
ct
 P
ro
g
re
ss
 U
p
d
a
te
 (
a
n
d
 c
o
n
ti
n
g
en
ci
es
 

em
p
lo
y
ed
/a
ct
io
n
s 
ta
k
en
 s
in
ce
 l
a
st
 r
ep
o
rt
, 
if
 p
ro
je
ct
 

sl
ip
p
a
g
e/
a
n
ti
ci
p
a
te
d
 d
ef
er
m
en
t/
co
st
 v
a
ri
a
n
ce
)

£
£

£
£

£
£

C
A
P
IT
A
L
 P
R
O
G
R
A
M
M
E
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

S
ci
en

ce
 P

ar
k

Z
1
1
5
0

R
B

0
0

8
4
9
,9
1
0

0

O
v
er
al
l 
P
ro

g
re
ss

 i
s 
g
o
o
d
. 
S
it
e 
n
o
w
 p
u
rc
h
as

ed
 w

it
h
 £
1
9
m

 

g
ra
n
t 
fr
o
m

 R
D
A
. 
N
ex

t 
p
h
as

e 
to

 i
n
v
o
lv

e 
te
ch

n
ic
al
 w

o
rk

 t
o
 

b
ri
n
g
 f
o
rw

ar
d
 p
la
n
n
in

g
 a
p
p
li
ca

ti
o
n
.

S
ig

n
ag

e
Z
1
1
1
7

R
P
S
 (
P
au

l 

O
sb

o
rn

e)
2
1
,2
1
0

3
2
,7
9
3

2
3
2
,1
9
0

7
5
,0
0
0

(1
1
,5
8
0
)

S
ee

 M
ai
n
 C

o
m

m
it
te
e 
R
ep

o
rt

S
t 
G
eo

rg
es

 M
ar
k
et
 

R
ec

o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n

Z
1
2
2
5

D
P

1
5
,2
0
0

9
,7
6
9

1
0
4
,5
0
0

7
6
,5
0
0

5
,4
3
0

M
ai
n
 r
ec

o
n
fi
g
u
ra
ti
o
n
 w

o
rk

s 
co

m
p
le
te
 b
u
t 
so

m
e 
fu

rt
h
er
 

m
in

o
r 
w
o
rk

s 
to

 f
o
ll
o
w
, 
o
n
ce

 f
in

al
 c
o
n
tr
ac

t 
su

m
s 
ar
e 

cl
ar
if
ie
d
. 
B
u
d
g
et
 d
ef
er
re
d
 t
o
 0
8
/0

9
.

C
o
rn

 E
x
ch

an
g
e 
- 
U
p
g
ra
d
e 

G
o
o
d
s 
L
if
t

Z
1
2
1
5

D
P

1
3
,7
5
0

1
3
,6
8
2

0
0

(6
8
)
L
if
t 
in

st
al
le
d
 a
n
d
 w

o
rk

 c
o
m

p
le
te
d
 o
n
 b
u
d
g
et
.

T
o
u
ri
st
 I
n
fo

rm
at
io

n
 C

en
t.

Z
1
1
0
9

R
B

2
7
,0
0
0

2
7
,4
7
1

0
0

4
7
1

W
o
rk

 c
o
m

p
le
te
.

W
al
k
in

g
 S

tr
at
eg

y
Z
1
1
3
3

D
H

3
0
,1
0
0

3
5
,5
8
4

3
3
,0
0
0

0
(5

,4
8
0
)

S
u
m

m
er
w
ay

 L
in

k
 t
o
 P

in
h
o
e 
R
d
 c
o
m

p
le
te
d
 a
n
d
 w

o
rk

 o
n
 

li
n
k
 b
et
w
ee

n
 S

t 
P
et
er
s 
M

o
u
n
t 
to

 E
x
w
ic
k
 L

an
e 
(p

ar
t 
o
f 

E
x
w
ic
k
 L

o
o
p
) 
al
so

 c
o
m

p
le
te
d
. 
  
B
u
d
g
et
 a
ls
o
 u
se

d
 t
o
 

m
at
ch

 f
u
n
d
 (
w
it
h
 D

C
C
) 
p
u
b
li
ca

ti
o
n
/p

ri
n
ti
n
g
 o
f 
a 
n
ew

 

w
al
k
in

g
 m

ap
 f
o
r 
E
x
et
er
. 

T
o
ta
l

3
,3
6
1
,0
7
0

2
,8
4
8
,4
9
5

3
,4
7
3
,2
6
0

1
,7
5
8
,7
7
0

5
3
6
,7
6
0

2
4
,1
9
4

Page 21



Page 22

This page is intentionally left blank



23/05/08 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - ECONOMY 

5 JUNE 2008 

 

 

ECONOMY SCRUTINY STEWARDSHIP 2007-08 
 

 

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT 

 
1.1 This report advises Members of the overall financial performance of the 

Economy and Development Directorate for the 2007-2008 financial year 
ended 31 March 2008. 

 

2. INFORMATION 

 
2.1 During the course of the financial year ending 31 March 2008, regular reports 

were made to this committee on the estimated revenue outturn. 
 
2.2 Following changes in the revenue accounting requirements for fixed assets 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) have 
specified that ‘deferred contributions’ must be released to service revenue 
accounts.  Deferred contributions are government grants and external 
contributions received in respect of fixed assets.  In order that this adjustment 
does not impact on the level of Council Tax it is required that the value of 
deferred contributions released to revenue accounts are reversed out when 
accounting for total service cost. 

 
2.3 A technical adjustment to the accounts for pension contributions (FRS17) has 

been made in line with required accounting practice.  This amendment is 
reversed out to show the actual cost to the Council and therefore has no 
impact on the Council Tax.  The treatment is similar to the way we account 
for capital charges. 

 
2.4 A further technical adjustment has been made in respect of deferred charges. 

The government allows councils to treat some revenue expenditure as capital 
expenditure e.g. grants to Housing Associations, grants to improve or 
develop assets owned by others (science park contributions and 
enhancements to the city centre).  This expenditure must be shown in the 
revenue accounts for the year but it is financed by the use of capital receipts 
or borrowing and therefore these charges are removed from the net cost of 
services to ensure that they do not impact on the Council Tax requirement. 

 
2.5 The final actual outturn has now been calculated, and the report below 

highlights the major differences by management unit from the approved 
annual budget.  The total variation for the year is a saving of £877,109 
against the budget, leading to an overall outturn position of a £801,061 
deficit.  

 
2.6 The main variations by management unit are detailed below:   
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 23



23/05/08 

  £ 

2007-2008 APPROVED ESTIMATE 
 

 1,678,170 

 

3A1 PROPERTY & ESTATES SERVICES  (151,424) 

 Rental income was higher than expected due to the 
completion of several rent reviews for South Street properties 
involving the collection of back rent from previous years. 
 
Princesshay rent was only budgeted for one quarter but, due 
to the timely completion of the project, two quarters rent was 
received in this financial year. 
  
It was anticipated that no rent would be charged for one 
property at Haven Road and another at Marsh Barton, 
however delays in the lease re-structuring processes resulted 
in rents still being received. 
 
Depreciation costs were lower than budgeted as the 
Basin/Quayside enhancements are now classified as non-
operational property and therefore no capital charges apply. 
 
Savings were made within the budgets provided for Voids and 
Doubtful Debts. 
 
Exeter City Council has surrendered the lease of Haven Road 
Industrial Estate which has resulted in a reduction in both 
expenditure and income. 
 
Rent from the Southgate Hotel was lower than anticipated as 
it is based on occupancy levels which dropped below the 
budgeted threshold limit this year. 
 
Projected income at St George’s Retail Units was lower than 
budgeted due to the former Card Shop being vacant. 
 

  

3A2 TRANSPORTATION  (410,249) 

 In 2007/08, the Devonwide Partnership reduced the rate of 
reimbursement for concessionary travel to bus operators in 
light of evidence of a significant increase in the volume of 
travel generated by the free fares scheme.  A cautious 
approach to budgeting was adopted in 2007/08 pending the 
outcome of a bus operator appeal to the Department for 
Transport (DfT) Adjudicator against the Partnership decision 
to reduce the rate of reimbursement.  In the event, the appeal 
determination by the DfT appointee did not result in a 
significant increase in costs to the Devonwide Partnership.  
However, Stagecoach (and potentially other operators) is 
seeking judicial review on the appeal determination and a 
degree of uncertainty in relation to 2007/08 costs remains.  
Meanwhile, Members will be aware that a new nationwide 
concessionary travel scheme was introduced from April 2008. 
This introduces further uncertainty (to the extent that the City 
Council is now expected to pay for all travel commencing in 
Exeter, regardless of the origin of the pass-holder) and 

  

Page 24



23/05/08 

officers will be monitoring costs carefully over the coming 
months. 
 
A contribution of £5,000 was made to Travelsmart, this will be 
funded by a transfer from the Transportation earmarked 
reserve. 
 

3A3 CAR PARKING  (206,681) 

 Fee income was £108,000 higher than budgeted. 
 
Standard charge income was £78,000 lower than budgeted.  
The introduction of pay on foot at both the Guildhall and Mary 
Arches Street car parks resulted in standard charge tickets no 
longer being issued to customers overstaying their purchased 
time as there is no longer a possibility of this happening.   
 
Asset Improvement and Maintenance expenditure was lower 
than budgeted as some works planned to be undertaken as 
part of the 2007/08 programme have been delayed until 
2008/09 and savings were achieved on works completed in 
2007/08. 
 
Rates were lower than budgeted. 
 
Expenditure included in the budget to provide for the net 
operating cost of the Summerland Gate car park was not 
required. 
 
Expenditure on security was higher than budgeted as the 
contractor identified an omission in their previous summary 
price. 
 
Electricity costs were higher than expected. 

 

  

3A4 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT  (74,509) 

 Expenditure was included in the budget for financial support 
for small businesses but the take up rate was less than 
expected and may be replaced by a regional fund.  
 
Work on the Science Park was delayed and the Wild City 
Project Officer was appointed towards the end of the financial 
year.  Supplementary 2008/09 budgets will be requested for 
both of these schemes. 
 

  

3A5 FESTIVALS & EVENTS  (28,098) 

 Employee costs were less than budgeted due to staff changes 
within the Festival & Events Team.  
 
The Summer Festival made a small surplus. 
 

  

3A6 TOURIST INFORMATION  (7,885) 

 Underground Passage repair works due to be undertaken in 
2007/08 have been delayed until 2008/09. 
 

  

Page 25



23/05/08 

3A8 DISTRICT HIGHWAYS & FOOTPATHS  67,003 

 Depreciation was higher than anticipated due to the inclusion 
of the Cathedral Yard enhancements in the Council’s asset 
register. 
 
Electricity costs were higher than anticipated. 

 

  

3A9 BUILDING CONTROL  33,741 

 The surge of building works experienced within the City in 
recent years has now slowed leading to less income than 
expected.  The deficit made on the Building Control fee 
earning account will be funded from an earmarked reserve in 
accordance with the Statement of Practice. 
 

  

3B1 LAND DRAINAGE  920 

 There are no significant variations to report. 
 

  

3B5 PLANNING  101,582 

 Planning application fee income was lower than expected. 
 
Local Development Framework expenditure was higher than 
budgeted for 07/08 but this will be funded from an earmarked 
reserve. 
 
£88,340 will be transferred from the Planning Delivery Grant 
to fund 07/08 expenditure. 
 

  

3B6 CONSERVATION  (114,752) 

 Works planned to be undertaken on the City Wall, the Vicars 
Choral, St Edmonds Church and St Loyes Chapel in 2007/08 
have been delayed until 2008/09. 
 

  

3B7 ARCHAEOLOGICAL FIELD UNIT  69,146 

 Expenditure was greater than anticipated due to the relocation 
of the unit to the Custom House.  Staff members were 
required to spend time on the move and therefore spent less 
time on rechargeable work and also additional furniture and 
general equipment needed to be purchased. 
 

  

3B8 PRINCESSHAY/MAJOR PROJECTS  (59,130) 

 £132,150 was budgeted for Princesshay/Major Project related 
expenditure but actual costs were only £73,020.  This will be 
funded from the Princesshay/Major Project earmarked 
reserve. 
 

  

3B9 MARKETS & HALLS  (96,773) 

 Income was higher than budgeted due to the increased use of 
the car parks at the Matford Centre and the introduction of a 
Wednesday car boot sale, however the Sunday market 
income was slightly lower than expected due to the wet 
weather. 
 
General savings were made relating to premises and vehicle 
hire costs. 

  

Page 26



23/05/08 

 
Exeter Corn Exchange income was higher than budgeted due 
to the increased number of events and food and beverage 
income. 
 
Depreciation costs were slightly lower than budgeted. 
 

2007-2008 FINAL OUTTURN   £801,061 

    

3. RECOMMENDED that Members note the contents of this report. 
 
HEAD OF TREASURY SERVICES 
 

CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling this report: 
1.  None 

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



S
C
R
U
T
IN
Y
 C
O
M
M
IT
T
E
E
 -
 E
C
O
N
O
M
Y

S
T
E
W
A
R
D
S
H
IP

A
P
R
IL
 2
0
0
7
 T
O
 M
A
R
C
H
 2
0
0
8

A
N
N
U
A
L
 

B
U
D
G
E
T

S
U
P
P
L
E
M
E
N
T
A
R
Y
 

B
U
D
G
E
T

D
E
F
E
R
R
E
D
 

C
H
A
R
G
E
S

R
E
V
IS
E
D
 

B
U
D
G
E
T

C
O
D
E

O
U
T
T
U
R
N

N
E
T
 

V
A
R
IA
N
C
E
 T
O
 

B
U
D
G
E
T

£
£

£
£

£
£

(2
,1
6
9
,8
4
0
)

2
5
,2
0
0

(2
,1
4
4
,6
4
0
)

3
A
1

P
R
O
P
E
R
T
Y
 &
 E
S
T
A
T
E
S
 S
E
R
V
IC
E
S

(2
,2
9
6
,0
6
4
)

(1
5
1
,4
2
4
)

1
,6
4
6
,4
5
0

3
5
,0
0
0

1
,6
8
1
,4
5
0

3
A
2

T
R
A
N
S
P
O
R
T
A
T
IO
N
/C
O
N
C
E
S
S
IO
N
A
R
Y
 F
A
R
E
S

1
,2
7
1
,2
0
1

(4
1
0
,2
4
9
)

(2
,7
2
5
,1
7
0
)

2
2
2
,2
0
0

(2
,2
0
0
)

(2
,5
0
5
,1
7
0
)

3
A
3

C
A
R
 P
A
R
K
IN
G

(2
,7
1
1
,8
5
1
)

(2
0
6
,6
8
1
)

9
5
3
,5
9
0

4
5
,0
0
0

9
9
8
,5
9
0

3
A
4

E
C
O
N
O
M
IC
 D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T

9
2
4
,0
8
1

(7
4
,5
0
9
)

3
8
3
,7
0
0

3
8
3
,7
0
0

3
A
5

F
E
S
T
IV
A
L
S
 &
 E
V
E
N
T
S

3
5
5
,6
0
2

(2
8
,0
9
8
)

5
9
0
,6
6
0

5
9
0
,6
6
0

3
A
6

T
O
U
R
IS
T
 I
N
F
O
R
M
A
T
IO
N

5
8
2
,7
7
5

(7
,8
8
5
)

2
8
,0
0
0

2
8
,0
0
0

3
A
7

A
R
C
H
A
E
O
L
O
G
Y
 I
N
 E
X
E
T
E
R

2
8
,0
0
0

0

3
1
8
,1
0
0

4
8
8
,9
5
0

8
0
7
,0
5
0

3
A
8

D
IS
T
R
IC
T
 H
IG
H
W
A
Y
S
 &
 F
O
O
T
P
A
T
H
S

8
7
4
,0
5
3

6
7
,0
0
3

6
4
,6
4
0

6
4
,6
4
0

3
A
9

B
U
IL
D
IN
G
 C
O
N
T
R
O
L

9
8
,3
8
1

3
3
,7
4
1

1
1
6
,3
3
0

9
,0
0
0

1
2
5
,3
3
0

3
B
1

L
A
N
D
 D
R
A
IN
A
G
E

1
2
6
,2
5
0

9
2
0

0
0

3
B
2

A
D
M
IN
IS
T
R
A
T
IO
N
 S
E
R
V
IC
E

0
0

0
0

3
B
3

D
IR
E
C
T
O
R
 E
C
O
N
O
M
Y
 &
 D
E
V
E
L
O
P
M
E
N
T

0
0

0
0

3
B
4

E
N
G
IN
E
E
R
IN
G
 &
 C
O
N
S
T
R
U
C
T
IO
N
 S
E
R
V
IC
E
S

0
0

1
,1
8
1
,6
7
0

(7
,8
4
0
)

1
,1
7
3
,8
3
0

3
B
5

P
L
A
N
N
IN
G
 S
E
R
V
IC
E
S

1
,2
7
5
,4
1
2

1
0
1
,5
8
2

6
8
,7
4
0

8
7
,7
2
0

3
,5
6
0

1
6
0
,0
2
0

3
B
6

C
O
N
S
E
R
V
A
T
IO
N

4
5
,2
6
8

(1
1
4
,7
5
2
)

8
,0
0
0

1
5
,0
0
0

2
3
,0
0
0

3
B
7

A
R
C
H
A
E
O
L
O
G
IC
A
L
 F
IE
L
D
 U
N
IT

9
2
,1
4
6

6
9
,1
4
6

1
3
2
,1
5
0

1
3
2
,1
5
0

3
B
8

P
R
IN
C
E
S
S
H
A
Y
/M
A
J
O
R
 P
R
O
J
E
C
T
S

7
3
,0
2
0

(5
9
,1
3
0
)

1
1
1
,5
6
0

4
8
,0
0
0

1
5
9
,5
6
0

3
B
9

M
A
R
K
E
T
S
 &
 H
A
L
L
S

6
2
,7
8
7

(9
6
,7
7
3
)

7
0
8
,5
8
0

4
5
2
,1
2
0

5
1
7
,4
7
0

1
,6
7
8
,1
7
0

N
E
T
 E
X
P
E
N
D
IT
U
R
E

8
0
1
,0
6
1

(8
7
7
,1
0
9
)

D
e
fe
rr
e
d
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 C
a
p
it
a
l

(5
1
7
,4
7
0
)

D
e
fe
rr
e
d
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 C
a
p
it
a
l

(5
1
7
,4
7
0
)

N
e
t 
B
u
d
g
e
t

1
,1
6
0
,7
0
0

R
e
v
e
n
u
e
 C
o
n
tr
ib
u
ti
o
n
s
 t
o
 C
a
p
it
a
l 
E
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

3
A
1

E
s
ta
te
s

2
5
,0
0
0

3
A
3

C
a
r 
P
a
rk
s

5
,2
0
7

3
B
9

M
a
rk
e
ts
 &
 H
a
lls

1
,4
2
8

T
ra
n
s
fe
rs
 f
ro
m
 E
a
rm

a
rk
e
d
 R
e
s
e
rv
e
s

3
A
2

T
ra
n
s
p
o
rt
a
ti
o
n

(5
,0
0
0
)

3
A
9

B
u
ild
in
g
 C
o
n
tr
o
l

(3
5
,2
6
4
)

3
B
5

L
o
c
a
l 
D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
F
ra
m
e
w
o
rk

(5
5
,2
4
6
)

3
B
5

P
la
n
n
in
g
 D
e
liv
e
ry
 G
ra
n
t

(8
8
,3
4
0
)

3
B
8

P
ri
n
c
e
s
s
h
a
y

(7
3
,0
2
0
)

O
V
E
R
A
L
L
 E
X
P
E
N
D
IT
U
R
E
 F
O
R
 T
H
E
 Y
E
A
R
 A
F
T
E
R
 M
O
V
E
M
E
N
T
S
 T
O
/F
R
O
M
 R
E
S
E
R
V
E
S

5
8
,3
5
6

Page 29



Page 30

This page is intentionally left blank



23/05/08 

EXETER CITY COUNCIL 
 
 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - ECONOMY 
5 JUNE 2008 

 
PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT INDICATORS: 2007/08 

 
 

1.0 PURPOSE OF REPORT 
  
1.1 This report advises Members on the current position on key performance 

indicators. 
  
2.0 INFORMATION 
  
2.1 Members receive a report every six months on the Key Performance Indicators to 

measure the performance of the Directorate’s work in the important areas of 
service delivery.  Attached to this report are the outturn figures for 2007/08 which 
are set in the context of the targets previously agreed and in the context of 
performance in the previous full year, 2006/07.  Overall performance to date 
continues to be positive. Key issues to highlight are as follows: 

  
2.2 Planning 
 The key performance indicators in Planning are the processing of planning 

applications where the Planning Services Unit have performed significantly above 
the national target over the last year.  This has been an excellent achievement 
given that workload has been high in terms of both volume and scale of projects.  
Whilst the proportion of new homes on brownfield sites has fallen from 2006/07, 
this was expected given that the supply of sites is unfortunately reducing and much 
of the housing supply during the year has been focused at Clyst Heath – a 
Greenfield site.  The development plan work is behind target because of delays in 
the delivery of the Panel report on the Regional Spatial Strategy.  In terms of the 
review of Conservation Areas, we are behind target – largely due to the declaration 
of two additional Conservation Areas. 

  
2.3 Economy and Tourism 
 High levels of satisfaction are demonstrated by survey from visitors to the Tourist 

Information Centre and Quay House Visitor Centre. 
  
2.4 Building Control 
 Performance and customer satisfaction remain very high.  In terms of access to 

public buildings, the Council has exceeded its target through a range of works 
carried out.  The new Tourist Information Centre and Heritage Centre both deliver 
fully accessible buildings; recent work at the Custom House provides lift access to 
the upper floor; and work to St Nicholas Priory provides enhanced access. 

  
2.5 Estates 
 The work of the land charges team on turning around local searches remains 

excellent. 
  
2.6 Administration and Parking Services 
 There has been a decrease in the issuing of Standard Charges as a result of 

introducing Pay on Foot at Mary Arches and Guildhall Car Parks.  The level of 
cancellations/write offs has decreased significantly.  The take up of concessionary 

Agenda Item 11

Page 31



23/05/08 

fares for residents aged 60 and over has risen significantly which reflects the much 
greater attractiveness of free travel for older people. 

  
3.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
 It is recommended that Members note the content of this report. 

  
  
  
  
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
JOHN RIGBY 
DIRECTOR ECONOMY AND DEVELOPMENT  
 
 

ECONOMY & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTORATE 
 
 
 
Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985 (as amended) 

Background papers used in compiling the report: 
None. 

 

Page 32



P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
R
e
s
u
lt
s
 2
0
0
7
/0
8
 

 H
o
w
 t
o
 i
n
te
rp
re
t 
th
e
 p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 r
e
p
o
rt
 

                  

 

S
e
rv
ic
e
 

Y
e
a
r 

E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7
 

Y
e
a
r 

E
n
d
 

0
7
/0
8
 
T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
/0
8
 
P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 

0
7
/0
8
 

 
C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
/0
7
 

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9
 
T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0
 
T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1
 

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry
 

0
7
/0
8
 

T
o
le
ra
n
c
e
 

L
P
I 
H
O
3
 N
o
. 
o
f 

h
o
u
s
e
h
o
ld
s
 i
n
 

te
m
p
o
ra
ry
 

a
c
c
o
m
m
o
d
a
ti
o
n
 H

o
u
s
in
g
 
2
2
8
 

2
1
6
 

2
2
0
 

 
 

1
8
0
 

1
5
0
 

1
5
0
 

N
I 
1
5
6
 w
ill
 

re
p
la
c
e
 L
P
IH
O
3
 

fr
o
m
 0
8
/0
9
. 

5
 

 P
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 s
h
o
w
n
 a
s
 a
 c
o
m
p
a
ri
s
o
n
 t
o
 t
h
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
ta
rg
e
t.
  
A
 t
o
le
ra
n
c
e
 i
s
 s
e
t 
fo
r 
e
a
c
h
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r,
 w
h
ic
h
 a
llo
w
s
 p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

s
h
o
w
n
 a
s
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 
w
it
h
in
 a
 c
e
rt
a
in
 p
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
. 
 T
h
e
 f
o
llo
w
in
g
 s
y
m
b
o
ls
 a
re
 u
s
e
d
. 

 

 T
h
e
 G
re
e
n
 S
ta
r 
s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b
e
tt
e
r 
th
a
n
 t
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
 

 T
h
e
 B
lu
e
 C
ir
c
le
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 w
it
h
in
 t
h
e
 t
o
le
ra
n
c
e
 

 T
h
e
 R
e
d
 T
ri
a
n
g
le
 w
a
rn
s
 t
h
a
t 
p
e
rf
o
rm

a
n
c
e
 i
s
 b
e
lo
w
 t
a
rg
e
t 
a
n
d
 o
u
ts
id
e
 t
h
e
 t
o
le
ra
n
c
e
 

 
  
T
h
e
 G
re
e
n
 T
ic
k
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 a
n
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
m
e
n
t 
o
n
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

  
T
h
e
 R
e
d
 C
ro
s
s
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
h
a
s
 d
ro
p
p
e
d
 s
in
c
e
 t
h
e
 p
re
v
io
u
s
 y
e
a
r 

è
 T
h
e
 B
la
c
k
 A
rr
o
w
 s
h
o
w
s
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 i
s
 n
o
 c
h
a
n
g
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 r
e
c
o
rd
e
d
 d
a
ta
 

 

P
e
rc
e
n
ta
g
e
 

to
le
ra
n
c
e
 

a
ll
o
w
e
d
 f
o
r 

th
e
 i
n
d
ic
a
to
r 

A
le
rt
 t
o
 

s
h
o
w
 i
f 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
is
 

o
n
 t
a
rg
e
t 

A
n
y
 

c
o
m
m
e
n
ts
 t
o
 

e
x
p
la
in
 

p
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

F
o
rw
a
rd
 

ta
rg
e
ts
 t
o
 

s
h
o
w
 w
h
e
re
 

w
e
 h
o
p
e
 t
o
 b
e
 

A
c
tu
a
l 

re
c
o
rd
e
d
 

fi
g
u
re
 f
o
r 
y
e
a
r 

e
n
d
 

A
le
rt
 t
o
 

s
h
o
w
 i
f 

in
d
ic
a
to
r 
h
a
s
 

im
p
ro
v
e
d
 

Page 33



Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



S
e
rv
ic
e

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

T
o
le
ra
n
c
e

 B
V
1
0
6
 %
 N
e
w
 

h
o
m
e
s
 b
u
ilt
 o
n
 

'b
ro
w
n
fi
e
ld
'

P
la
n
n
in
g

8
0
.4
2

6
8
.6
0

7
0
.0
0

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a

G
re
e
n
fi
e
ld
 p
ro
v
is
io
n
 i
s
 m
a
in
ly
 d
u
e
 t
o
 

c
o
m
p
le
ti
o
n
s
 a
t 
D
ig
b
y
. 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
ill
 n
o
 

lo
n
g
e
r 
b
e
 c
o
lle
c
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
0
7
/0
8
.

0
.0
1

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
/0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
/0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
/0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
/0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

 B
V
2
1
9
b
%
 o
f 

c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 a
re
a
s
 i
n
 

th
e
 l
o
c
a
l 
a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

a
re
a
 w
it
h
 a
n
 u
p
 t
o
 

d
a
te
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 

a
p
p
ra
is
a
l.

P
la
n
n
in
g

7
0
.6
0

8
5
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a

A
p
p
ra
is
a
ls
 o
f 
th
re
e
 r
e
m
a
in
in
g
 c
o
n
s
e
rv
a
ti
o
n
 

a
re
a
s
 d
e
la
y
e
d
 d
u
e
 t
o
 t
h
e
 d
e
s
ig
n
a
ti
o
n
 o
f 
tw
o
 

a
d
d
it
io
n
a
l 
a
re
a
s
. 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
w
ill
 n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
b
e
 

c
o
lle
c
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
0
7
/0
8
.

0
.2
5

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
/0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
/0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
/0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
/0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

 B
V
1
5
6
 %
 L
A
 p
u
b
lic
 

b
u
ild
in
g
s
 a
c
c
e
s
s
ib
le
 

to
 d
is
a
b
le
d
 p
e
o
p
le

B
u
ild
in
g
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l

5
5
.0
0

7
5
.0
0

6
0
.0
0

6
0
.0
0

6
0
.0
0

7
5
.0
0

T
h
e
 t
a
rg
e
t 
h
a
s
 b
e
e
n
 e
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 f
o
r 
o
u
r 

C
a
te
g
o
ry
 A
 b
u
ild
in
g
s
 a
s
 t
h
e
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 i
n
v
e
s
t 
a
n
d
 u
p
g
ra
d
e
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
. 

F
u
rt
h
e
r 
w
o
rk
 i
s
 p
la
n
n
e
d
 a
t 
th
e
 R
A
M
M
, 
S
t 

N
ic
h
o
la
s
 P
ri
o
ry
 a
n
d
 T
h
e
 C
u
s
to
m
 H
o
u
s
e
 t
o
 

in
c
re
a
s
e
 t
h
e
 f
ig
u
re
.

1
0

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
/0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
/0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
/0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
/0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

 L
P
I 
A
C
1
 %
 t
a
k
e
-u
p
 

o
f 
e
lig
ib
le
 r
e
s
id
e
n
ts
 

a
g
e
d
 6
0
 a
n
d
 o
v
e
r

A
d
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 C
a
r 
P
a
rk
s

7
9
.5
0

8
7
.0
0

8
2
.5
0

8
5
.0
0

8
5
.0
0

8
5
.0
0

D
a
ta
 i
s
 s
u
p
p
lie
d
 b
y
 D
C
C
. 
D
a
ta
 i
s
 n
o
t 

a
v
a
ila
b
le
 u
n
ti
l 
M
a
y
 1
2
th
.

5

 L
P
I 
A
C
2
 %
 o
f 

s
ta
n
d
a
rd
 p
a
rk
in
g
 

c
h
a
rg
e
s
 r
e
c
o
v
e
re
d
 i
n
 

fu
ll

A
m
in
is
tr
a
ti
o
n
 

a
n
d
 C
a
r 
P
a
rk
s

7
4
.3
8

7
9
.4
0

6
7
.0
0

7
0
.0
0

7
5
.0
0

7
5
.0
0

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 h
a
s
 i
m
p
ro
v
e
d
 o
v
e
r 
th
e
 l
a
s
t 

h
a
lf
-y
e
a
r 
p
e
ri
o
d
. 
W
h
ils
t 
th
e
re
 w
a
s
 a
 1
5
%
 

d
e
c
re
a
s
e
 i
n
 t
h
e
 n
u
m
b
e
r 
o
f 
S
ta
n
d
a
rd
 

C
h
a
rg
e
s
 i
s
s
u
e
d
 (
1
3
7
8
 t
h
is
 p
e
ri
o
d
 c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 

w
it
h
 1
6
2
3
 l
a
s
t 
p
e
ri
o
d
),
 c
a
n
c
e
lla
ti
o
n
s
/w
ri
te
-

o
ff
s
 d
e
c
re
a
s
e
d
 b
y
 3
0
%
 (
4
8
8
 t
h
is
 p
e
ri
o
d
 

c
o
m
p
a
re
d
 w
it
h
 6
9
5
 l
a
s
t 
p
e
ri
o
d
)

5

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 
P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 I
n
d
ic
a
to
r 
R
e
s
u
lt
s
 2
0
0
7
/0
8

S
O
 1
: 
E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
th
e
re
 a
re
 e
n
o
u
g
h
 w
e
ll-
d
e
s
ig
n
e
d
, 
w
e
ll-
m
a
in
ta
in
e
d
 a
n
d
 a
ff
o
rd
a
b
le
 h
o
m
e
s
 i
n
 t
h
e
 c
it
y

S
O
2
: 
E
n
h
a
n
c
e
 a
n
d
 p
ro
te
c
t 
th
e
 e
n
v
ir
o
n
m
e
n
t,
 r
e
d
u
c
in
g
 t
h
e
 c
a
u
s
e
s
 &
 m
in
im
is
in
g
 t
h
e
 i
m
p
a
c
t 
o
f 
c
lim
a
te
 c
h
a
n
g
e

S
O
3
: 
F
u
rt
h
e
r 
im
p
ro
v
e
 t
h
e
 c
h
a
ra
c
te
r 
o
f 
th
e
 c
it
y
 a
n
d
 f
a
c
ili
ti
e
s
 f
o
r 
c
u
lt
u
re
 &
 l
e
is
u
re

S
O
4
: 
M
a
x
im
is
e
 t
h
e
 p
o
te
n
ti
a
l 
o
f 
a
ll 
o
u
r 
c
it
iz
e
n
s
 b
y
 t
a
c
k
lin
g
 s
o
c
ia
l 
d
is
a
d
v
a
n
ta
g
e
 a
n
d
 d
e
p
ri
v
a
ti
o
n

Page 35



Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

 B
V
1
0
9
a
.0
2
 %
 m
a
jo
r 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 1
3
 

w
k
s

P
la
n
n
in
g

7
5
.4
1

7
0
.3
9

6
0
.0
0

6
0
.0
0

6
0
.0
0

6
0
.0
0

N
I 
1
5
7
 w
ill
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 B
V
1
0
9
a
, 
B
V
1
0
9
b
 a
n
d
 

B
V
1
0
9
c
 f
ro
m
 0
8
/0
9
.

0
.2
5

 B
V
1
0
9
b
.0
2
 %
 m
in
o
r 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 

w
k
s

P
la
n
n
in
g

7
6
.6
7

7
4
.4
1

6
5
.0
0

6
5
.0
0

6
5
.0
0

6
5
.0
0

N
I 
1
5
7
 w
ill
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 B
V
1
0
9
a
, 
B
V
1
0
9
b
 a
n
d
 

B
V
1
0
9
c
 f
ro
m
 0
8
/0
9
.

0
.2
5

 B
V
1
0
9
c
.0
2
 %
 o
th
e
r 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 

d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 w
it
h
in
 8
 

w
k
s

P
la
n
n
in
g

8
4
.6
1

8
0
.4
2

8
0
.0
0

8
0
.0
0

8
0
.0
0

8
0
.0
0

N
I 
1
5
7
 w
ill
 r
e
p
la
c
e
 B
V
1
0
9
a
, 
B
V
1
0
9
b
 a
n
d
 

B
V
1
0
9
c
 f
ro
m
 0
8
/0
9
.

0
.2
5

B
V
2
0
0
a
 D
id
 t
h
e
 l
o
c
a
l 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 

s
u
b
m
it
 t
h
e
 L
o
c
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
L
D
S
) 
b
y
 

2
8
th
 M
a
rc
h
 2
0
0
5
 a
n
d
 

th
e
re
a
ft
e
r 
m
a
in
ta
in
 a
 

3
 y
e
a
r 
ro
lli
n
g
 

p
ro
g
ra
m
m
e
?

P
la
n
n
in
g

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

Y
e
s

è

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
0
7
/0
8
.

1
0

B
V
2
0
0
b
. 
H
a
s
 t
h
e
 

lo
c
a
l 
p
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
 m
e
t 
th
e
 

m
ile
s
to
n
e
s
 w
h
ic
h
 t
h
e
 

c
u
rr
e
n
t 
L
o
c
a
l 

D
e
v
e
lo
p
m
e
n
t 

S
c
h
e
m
e
 (
L
D
S
) 
s
e
ts
 

o
u
t?

P
la
n
n
in
g

N
o

N
o

Y
e
s

è

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a

C
o
re
 S
tr
a
te
g
y
 d
e
la
y
e
d
 b
e
c
a
u
s
e
 o
f 
n
e
e
d
 t
o
 

w
a
it
 f
o
r 
th
e
 o
u
tc
o
m
e
 o
f 
th
e
 R
e
g
io
n
a
l 
S
p
a
ti
a
l 

S
tr
a
te
g
y
. 
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 i
n
 

0
7
/0
8
.

1
0

 B
V
2
0
4
 %
 P
la
n
n
in
g
 

a
p
p
e
a
ls
 a
llo
w
e
d

P
la
n
n
in
g

3
2
.1
0

3
0
.6
7

3
3
.0
0

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
0
7
/0
8
.

1
0

B
V
2
0
5
 T
h
e
 l
o
a
c
l 

a
u
th
o
ri
ty
's
 s
c
o
re
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
a
 'q
u
a
lit
y
 o
f 

p
la
n
n
in
g
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
' 

c
h
e
c
k
lis
t.

P
la
n
n
in
g

9
4
.4
5

9
4
.4
0

1
0
0
.0
0

n
/a

n
/a

n
/a
In
d
ic
a
to
r 
n
o
 l
o
n
g
e
r 
c
o
lle
c
te
d
 a
ft
e
r 
0
7
/0
8
.

6

S
O
5
: 
E
n
s
u
re
 t
h
a
t 
E
x
e
te
r 
is
 a
 b
u
o
y
a
n
t,
 d
y
n
a
m
ic
 a
n
d
 i
n
n
o
v
a
ti
v
e
 r
e
g
io
n
a
l 
c
it
y
 w
it
h
 s
u
s
ta
in
a
b
le
 g
ro
w
th

Page 36



Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
/0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
/0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
/0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
/0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

 L
P
I 
B
C
2
 %
 o
f 
a
n
n
u
a
l 

fe
e
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 r
e
c
e
iv
e
d
 

a
g
a
in
s
t 
th
e
 c
o
s
t 
o
f 

th
e
 b
u
ild
in
g
 c
o
n
tr
o
l 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 (
b
u
ild
in
g
)

B
u
ild
in
g
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l

1
0
0
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

è

1
0
0
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

F
e
e
 i
n
c
o
m
e
 c
o
n
ti
n
u
e
s
 t
o
 e
x
c
e
e
d
 

e
x
p
e
n
d
it
u
re

1
0

L
P
I 
B
C
3
 %
 o
f 
b
u
ild
in
g
 

re
g
u
la
ti
o
n
 

a
p
p
lic
a
ti
o
n
s
 r
e
c
ie
v
e
d
 

w
h
ic
h
 a
re
 d
e
te
rm
in
e
d
 

in
 t
h
e
 p
re
s
c
ri
b
e
d
 

p
e
ri
o
d

B
u
ild
in
g
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l

9
5
.0
0

9
9
.0
0

9
9
.0
0

9
9
.0
0

9
9
.0
0

9
9
.0
0

1
0

 L
P
I 
E
S
1
 %
 o
f 
lo
c
a
l 

s
e
a
rc
h
e
s
 c
a
rr
ie
d
 o
u
t 

in
 7
 w
o
rk
in
g
 d
a
y
s

E
s
ta
te
 S
e
rv
ic
e
s

9
6
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
5
.0
0

9
5
.0
0

9
7
.0
0
E
x
c
e
e
d
e
d
 t
a
rg
e
t,
 a
n
o
th
e
r 
g
o
o
d
 6
 m
o
n
th
s

1
0

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
6
/0
7

Y
e
a
r 
E
n
d
 

0
7
/0
8

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
7
/0
8

P
e
rf
o
rm
a
n
c
e
 

0
7
/0
8

C
o
m
p
a
re
d
 t
o
 

0
6
/0
7

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
8
/0
9

T
a
rg
e
t 

0
9
/1
0

T
a
rg
e
t 

1
0
/1
1

C
o
m
m
e
n
ta
ry

 L
P
I 
E
T
1
 %
 o
f 
o
v
e
ra
ll 

im
p
re
s
s
io
n
 o
f 
th
e
 T
IC
 

w
a
s
 e
x
c
e
lle
n
t/
g
o
o
d

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 

T
o
u
ri
s
m

9
6
.0
0

9
8
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
2
.0
0

F
ro
m
 t
h
e
 p
e
o
p
le
 w
h
o
 c
o
m
p
le
te
d
 t
h
is
 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
, 
a
lm
o
s
t 
a
ll 
p
e
o
p
le
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
d
 t
h
e
ir
 

o
v
e
ra
ll 
im
p
re
s
s
io
n
 w
a
s
 e
it
h
e
r 

e
x
c
e
lle
n
t/
g
o
o
d
. 
C
o
n
s
id
e
ri
n
g
 o
u
r 
lo
c
a
ti
o
n
 

o
v
e
r 
th
e
 p
a
s
t 
c
o
u
p
le
 o
f 
y
e
a
rs
, 
th
is
 i
s
 a
 g
re
a
t 

a
c
h
ie
v
e
m
e
n
t.
 B
ia
n
n
u
a
l 
in
d
ic
a
to
r.

1
0

 L
P
I 
E
T
4
 %
 s
ta
te
d
 

o
v
e
ra
ll 
th
e
 Q
u
a
y
 

H
o
u
s
e
 V
is
it
o
r 
C
e
n
tr
e
 

w
a
s
 e
x
c
e
lle
n
t/
g
o
o
d

E
c
o
n
o
m
y
 a
n
d
 

T
o
u
ri
s
m

9
8
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
0
.0
0

9
2
.0
0

E
x
c
e
lle
n
t 
re
s
u
lt
s
 f
ro
m
 t
h
e
 a
n
n
u
a
l 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 

s
u
rv
e
y
. 
V
is
it
o
rs
 a
re
 a
llo
w
e
d
 t
o
 b
ro
w
s
e
 t
h
e
 

V
is
it
o
r 
C
e
n
tr
e
 a
n
d
 w
h
e
n
 t
h
e
y
 a
s
k
 s
ta
ff
 a
 

q
u
e
s
ti
o
n
 t
h
e
ir
 k
n
o
w
le
d
g
e
 i
s
 e
x
c
e
lle
n
t.

1
0

 L
P
I 
B
C
1
 %
 o
f 

c
u
s
to
m
e
rs
 s
a
ti
s
fi
e
d
 

w
it
h
 t
h
e
 o
v
e
ra
ll 

s
e
rv
ic
e
 p
ro
v
id
e
d

B
u
ild
in
g
 

C
o
n
tr
o
l

9
5
.0
0

1
0
0
.0
0

9
5
.0
0

9
5
.0
0

9
5
.0
0

9
5
.0
0

O
u
r 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 s
u
rv
e
y
 i
n
d
ic
a
te
s
 

c
o
n
ti
n
u
in
g
 s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n
 w
it
h
 t
h
e
 s
e
rv
ic
e

1
0

S
O
8
: 
P
ro
m
o
te
 a
n
 e
x
tr
e
m
e
ly
 p
o
s
it
iv
e
 i
m
a
g
e
 a
n
d
 r
e
p
u
ta
ti
o
n
 a
n
d
 e
n
s
u
re
 h
ig
h
 l
e
v
e
ls
 o
f 
c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
s
a
ti
s
fa
c
ti
o
n

S
O
7
: 
U
s
e
 r
e
s
o
u
rc
e
s
 e
ff
e
c
ti
v
e
ly
 a
n
d
 p
ro
v
id
e
 h
ig
h
 p
e
rf
o
rm
in
g
, 
v
a
lu
e
 f
o
r 
m
o
n
e
y
 s
e
rv
ic
e
s
 t
h
a
t 
fo
c
u
s
 o
n
 c
u
s
to
m
e
r 
n
e
e
d
s
.

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 PORTFOLIO HOLDERS TO PRESENT THEIR PRIORITIES FOR THE FORTHCOMING YEAR
	7 EXETER & HEART OF DEVON ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES 2008 - 2013
	8 SUPPORT FOR SMALL BUSINESSES
	9 CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING (2007/08 OUTTURN)
	Economy Master Plan 07-08 FINAL

	10 ECONOMY SCRUTINY STEWARDSHIP 2007/08
	Economy Scrutiny Committee - 07-08 FINAL

	11 PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT INDICATORS 2007/08
	How to interpret a performance report Annual
	EDQ4


